



A PUBLIC HEALTH APPROACH TO **DRUG USE IN ASIA:**

Principles and practices for decriminalisation





Contents

Acronyms	2				
Acknowledgements	2				
Methodology	2				
Foreword	3				
Terminology	4				
Summary of key messages	5				
1 Introduction	6				
2 The decriminalisation of drug use	7				
2.1 Background on decriminalisation	8				
2.2 The key principles of decriminalisation	12				
2.3 Best practice experiences of decriminalisation around the world	14				
2.3.1 De jure decriminalisation	14				
2.3.2 De facto decriminalisation	16				
2.4 Effective use of threshold quantities in decriminalisation models	19				
2.5 Removing severe administrative punishments for people who use drugs	21				
2.6 Transitioning from CCDUs to voluntary treatment and services	22				
2.7 Promoting voluntary referrals to health and social services	23				
3 Mechanisms to divert people away from the criminal justice system	25				
3.1 Overview of diversion	26				
3.2 UN standards and norms on diversion	27				
3.3 Diversion by police	29				
3.4 Diversion by prosecutors	31				
3.5 Diversion by courts	32				
3.5.1 Overview of court diversion models	32				
3.5.2 Examples of court diversion in Asia	32				
3.5.3 Specialised drug courts	33				
3.5.4 Good practice in court diversion	34				
3.6 The role of healthcare, legal and community workers in diversion schemes	35				
3.6.1 Principles for engagement of healthcare, legal and community workers	35				
3.6.2 The engagement of health care, legal and community workers: Experiences in Asia	35				
4 Conclusions and recommendations	37				
Annexes	40				
Annex 1 Decriminalisation and diversion programmes under the UN drug conventions	41				
Annex 2 Practical steps for implementing decriminalisation and diversion					

Acronyms

ANPUD Asian Network of People who Use Drugs **ASEAN** Association of South East Asian Nations **CCDU** Compulsory centres for drug users **CFP**

Country Focal Point

IDPC International Drug Policy Consortium International Narcotics Control Board **INCB LEAHN** Law Enforcement and HIV Network **NSP** Needle and syringe programmes **OST** Opioid substitution therapy

PCPI Police Community Partnership

Initiative (Cambodia)

SAARC South Asia Association for Regional

Cooperation

UN **United Nations**

UNAIDS Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

UNODC United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime

WHO World Health Organisation

Methodology

This report was developed by a review of available evidence conducted in October-November 2015, consultations with stakeholders attending the 24th International Harm Reduction Conference, Kuala Lumpur, 18-21 October 2015 and two rounds of consultation amongst stakeholders on the first and final draft report in October 2015 and January 2016.



The project is funded by The European Union

Disclaimer: The contents of this publication are the sole responsibility of the author and do not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union.

This report was published as part of the 'Asia Action on Harm Reduction' project, managed by the International HIV/AIDS Alliance. This project, funded by the European Union in 2013-2015 enables community advocates in China, India, Malaysia, Indonesia, Cambodia and Vietnam to advocate for harm reduction.

Acknowledgements

This report was written by John Godwin, Consultant.

IDPC wishes to thank the Asian Network of People who Use Drugs and the International HIV/AIDS Alliance for supporting this report.

The following people reviewed drafts and/or provided comments and suggestions:

- Gloria Lai, Jamie Bridge, Ann Fordham, Marie Nougier, International Drug Policy Consortium
- Akihiko Sato, Kwansei Gakuin University (Japan)
- · Alex Wodak, President, Australian Drug Law Reform Foundation (Australia)
- Anand Chabungbam, Jimmy Dorabjee, Asian Network of People who Use Drugs (Regional)
- Asmin Fransiska, Atma Jaya University (Indonesia)
- Atul Ambekar, All India Institute of Medical Sciences (India)
- · Brianna Harrison, Vladanka Andreeva, UNAIDS RST (Thailand)
- Claudia Stoicescu, Rick Lines, Harm Reduction International (United Kingdom)
- · Daniel Wolfe, Denise Tomasini, Naomi Burke Shyne, Matthew Wilson, Open Society Foundations
- Dave Burrows, APMGlobal Health (Australia)
- Edo Agustian Nasution, PKNI Indonesian Drug Users Network (Indonesia)
- · Ernestien Jensema, Transnational Institute (Netherlands)

- Goro Koto, Japan Advocacy Network for Drug Policy (Japan)
- Ma Inez Feria, NoBox Transitions Foundation (Philippines)
- · Olga Golichenko, Susie McLean, Jet Riparip, International HIV/AIDS Alliance
- · Kanna Hanayashi, University of British Columbia (Canada)
- Michael Cole, Consultant (Thailand)
- Nex Bengson, AKEI (Philippines)
- Niamh Eastwood, Release (United Kingdom)
- Oanh Khuat, Center for Supporting Community Development Initiatives (Vietnam)
- Pann Ei, Consultant (Myanmar)
- Pascal Tanguay, Consultant (Thailand)
- · Rebecca Schleifer, Yale University Global Health Justice Partnership
- Ricky Gunawan, LBH Masyarakat (Indonesia)
- Risa Alexander, HIV Cooperation Programme in Indonesia (Indonesia)
- Simon Beddoe, India HIV/AIDS Alliance (India)
- Steve Rolles, Transform Drug Policy Foundation (United Kingdom)
- Taing, Korsang (Cambodia)
- Tripti Tandon, Lawyers Collective (India)

Foreword

In Asia, the use of drugs such as opium, cannabis, and kratom for medical, religious or cultural purposes has been a part of traditional practice for many centuries. Opium was used for medicinal purposes across Asia from Iran to Indonesia. Smoking opium with tobacco was common in ritualistic and social gatherings in China. Similarly, cannabis was widely used for medical, cultural and social purposes—in my home country India, cannabis was described as a 'way of life'. In Thailand and Malaysia, kratom has been traditionally used for medicinal, cultural and other purposes.

Despite the findings of the Opium and Hemp Commissions in the late 19th century that the 'mild and moderate use of these substances is not deleterious to health', the major powers of the time pushed for their prohibition under the establishment of the international drug control system, now underpinned by the three UN Conventions of 1961, 1971 and 1988. The prejudice of the major powers against local practices in Asia was so much that the therapeutic benefits of cannabis were not acknowledged in modern medicine for a long time. It is ironic that countries in Europe and North America are now 'rediscovering' the medical uses of cannabis and even changing their laws to allow for the supply and use of medical cannabis, whereas our traditional medical practices are lost on our governments. Without doubt, drug prohibition is an 'historical wrong' which needs to be corrected in societies in Asia.

It is a travesty that in the 20th century, Asia became the region with the most repressive and punitive drug policies in the world. While other parts of the world are acknowledging the damage caused by enforcementdriven strategies and shifting towards health- and rightsbased approaches to drug use, including in Africa, Latin America, North America and Europe, countries in Asia still insist on criminalisation and punishment as their primary response. The epidemics of HIV and hepatitis C, high rates of incarceration, deeply inadequate access to humane and effective drug treatment and harm reduction measures, extensive human rights

violations (including police abuse and harassment, arbitrary detention, forced urine testing, and forced labour and denial of healthcare in compulsory detention settings), and the use of the death penalty for drug offences – contrary to international human rights and constitutional norms – make an undeniably strong case for governments to change course. An open debate on drug policies that work in redressing these devastating consequences and in reducing the harms associated with drug use is desperately needed.

I welcome this report as a critical resource for policy makers in our region ready to confront the contemporary realities of drug use and the inability of criminalisation and punishment to effectively manage those realities. It provides a comprehensive outline of the principles and practices that underpin effective approaches to decriminalising the use of drugs and the possession and cultivation of drugs for personal use. I encourage policy makers to make full use of this report as a source of technical advice and recommendations for implementing health- and rights-based policy responses to drug use. In considering the most appropriate alternatives to criminalisation and punishment to apply in country and regional contexts, I urge policy makers to engage the most affected communities, that is people who use drugs. I urge you to take account of our region's traditional approaches to drugs, in which prohibition, criminalisation and punishment were virtually strangers until only the past century.



Anand Grover

Senior Advocate, Supreme Court of India Commissioner, Global Commission on Drug Policy Former UN Special Rapporteur on the right to health (2008-2014)

Terminology

For the purposes of this report the following definitions apply.

Administrative or civil sanctions refer to penalties that do not result in a criminal conviction or punishment, or a criminal record. Examples include a warning, confiscation, and monetary fines (in small amounts). Administrative or civil sanctions are generally intended to be less punitive than criminal sanctions, however such sanctions imposed in some countries in Asia involve compulsory detention for people who use drugs.

Decriminalisation of drug use refers to the removal or non-enforcement of criminal penalties for drug use, and for the possession of drugs, possession of drug use equipment and cultivation of drugs for the purpose of personal consumption. Decriminalisation may involve the removal of all penalties. Alternatively, civil or administrative penalties rather than criminal penalties may be imposed following decriminalisation. If so, these penalties should be less punitive than those imposed under criminalisation, and lead to increased voluntary access to evidence-and human rights-based harm reduction, health and social services.¹

Under *de jure* decriminalisation, criminal penalties for selected activities are formally removed through legal reforms.

Under *de facto* decriminalisation, the selected activities remain criminal offences but, in practice, the criminal penalties are not applied.

Diversion refers to measures that provide alternatives to criminal sanctions or incarceration for people who are arrested for drug use or drug-related offences, particularly minor, non-violent offences. Diversion measures can be implemented through policies, programmes and practices that aim to refer people to social and health interventions such as harm reduction and drug treatment, rather than subjected to arrest, detention, prosecution, judicial sentencing and imprisonment. Diversion measures can be conducted by police (before or after arrest), prosecutors, or judges prior to or at the time of sentencing.² Such measures may be implemented in jurisdictions that have implemented de jure decriminalisation or de facto decriminalisation. They may also be implemented where drug use is not decriminalised, and apply specifically to people who use or are dependent on drugs, including where a minor, non-violent offence has been committed.

Drug dependence remains a contested concept. The World Health Organisation (WHO) defines it as a 'chronic, relapsing medical condition with a physiological and genetic basis'. However, some experts have rejected terms describing drug dependence as a medical condition as this can lead to people making the incorrect assumption that all drug use is an illness. The UN reports that only about 10% of people who use drugs have problems related to their drug use, and may need evidence-based, voluntary drug treatment.⁴

For the purpose of this report, drug dependence refers to a range of behaviours that include a strong desire to use drugs, the difficulty in controlling consumption, and the continued use of the substance despite physical, mental and social problems associated with drug use. It is often characterised by increased tolerance over time, and withdrawal symptoms if substance use is abruptly stopped.

Drug dependence treatment refers to a range of interventions - both medical and psychosocial - that support people who have a problem with their drug use to stabilise or recover control over their consumption, or seek abstinence. The complexity of drug dependence is such that the response, setting and intensity of treatment need to be tailored to each person. A comprehensive menu of services should be available to suit the differing characteristics, needs, preferences and circumstances of each person wishing to access treatment. Treatment should be provided by medical staff, therapists or other appropriately trained professionals, the goal being the improvement of the health and social functioning of the person.⁵ The objective of treatment is to enable an individual to live a healthy and socially constructive lifestyle. It is important to contrast this definition of drug treatment with detention in a compulsory centre for people who use drugs (CCDU) – that is, when a person is sent to a locked facility without medical evaluation or informed consent, where the 'treatment' is generally not evidence-based, and emphasises instead physical or religious discipline or forced labour.6

Harm reduction refers to policies, programmes and practices that aim primarily to reduce the adverse health, social and economic consequences of the use of legal and illegal psychoactive drugs without necessarily reducing drug consumption.7 Examples of this approach include needle and syringe programmes (NSPs) - which provide sterile injecting equipment to people who use drugs to reduce the risks of HIV and hepatitis transmission - and opioid substitution therapy (OST) – which replaces an illegal opioid drug (such as heroin) with a controlled substance under medical supervision (for example, methadone or buprenorphine). Measures such NSPs and OST are part of the globally agreed package of interventions for HIVrelated prevention, treatment and care amongst people who inject drugs, and have been repeatedly proven to help stabilise and reduce illicit drug use, improve health and quality of life, and reduce crime.8

Legalisation is a process by which all drug-related behaviours (use, possession, cultivation, production, trade, etc.) become legal activities. Within this process, governments may choose to adopt administrative laws and policies to regulate drug production, distribution and use, limiting availability and access – this process is known as legal regulation.

Legal regulation refers to a model whereby the cultivation, production, transportation and sale of selected drugs are governed by a legal regulatory regime. This regime can include regulations on price, potency, packaging, production, transit, availability, marketing and/or use – all of which are enforced by state agencies.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Summary of key messages

In this report, the International Drug Policy Consortium (IDPC) offers recommendations based on evidence and examples of good practice to inform a shift in policy responses to drug use in Asia away from criminalisation and punishment, and towards public health and harm reduction. It describes effective approaches to the decriminalisation of drug use. It also discusses approaches implemented in Asia that have proven ineffective, such as the detention of people who use drugs in compulsory centres as a form of 'rehabilitation'.

The following factors are highlighted to guide the development of policies that seek to achieve improved outcomes for health, security and human rights:

- Decriminalisation of drug use is permitted within the existing international drug control conventions. It can be achieved by the removal or non-enforcement of criminal penalties for drug consumption, and for the possession of drugs, possession of drug use equipment and cultivation of drugs for the purpose of personal consumption.
- Decriminalisation is evidence-based, human rightsbased and complies with the principles of harm reduction and social inclusion.
- In a decriminalisation model, administrative sanctions such as a minor fine, caution or referral to treatment and social services may be applied instead of criminal sanctions. However, this report proposes a best practice model of decriminalisation in which no sanctions whatsoever apply for drug consumption or use, possession of drugs, possession of drug use equipment and cultivation of drugs for the purpose of personal consumption.
- Programming priorities for countries moving towards decriminalisation include:
 - Transitioning away from the detention of people who use drugs in compulsory centres to voluntary, community-based treatment, harm reduction and social services.
 - Introducing mechanisms for the diversion of people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system through programmes implemented by the police, prosecutors, courts, or health care workers. Police diversion for people arrested for drug use or low-level, non-violent drug offences may include a decision to take no further action, issue a caution or to provide

referral to social and/or health services. Police diversion is effective in contexts where the police are able to build trust with communities of people who use drugs. Prosecutors and judges can also implement diversion programmes, with courts offering diversion for people who use drugs arrested for more serious offences (rather than for drug use or possession for personal use, where it is recommended that diversion occurs at police or prosecutor stage).

Chapter 4 provides comprehensive recommendations and identifies practical considerations for governments seeking to implement decriminalisation. It highlights the need to mobilise public support for decriminalisation and the importance of engaging key stakeholders from across government and civil society including communities of people who use drugs, religious and community leaders, the legal and medical professions, and the media.

Objectives of the report

- To explain the principles underpinning the decriminalisation of drug use
- To provide recommendations for the design and implementation of decriminalisation models targeted at people who use drugs
- To offer guidance on diversion of people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system towards evidencebased health and social services, based on principles of public health and human rights
- To identify the roles of criminal justice, law enforcement, health, legal and social service agencies in implementing decriminalisation and referrals to health and social programmes.

This report is intended as a resource for policy makers, legislators, communities of people who use drugs and civil society organisations in Asia. The overall goal of the report is to offer guidance on steps that countries can undertake to develop drug policies that achieve better public health outcomes, by shifting away from the criminalisation and punishment of people who use drugs. It also describes legal and policy responses to drugs that are not effective, such as the detention of people who use drugs in compulsory centres for drug users (CCDUs), forced urine testing, compulsory registration and other punitive measures.

The report does not address the legalisation of the supply of drugs or systems for the legal regulation of drugs.⁹

Chapter 2 The decriminalisation of drug use

2.1 Background on decriminalisation

For the purpose of this report, decriminalisation is defined as the removal or non-enforcement of criminal penalties for selected activities. The decriminalisation of drug use refers to the removal or non-enforcement of criminal penalties for drug use, and for the possession of drugs, possession of drug use equipment and cultivation of drugs for the purpose of personal consumption.

Decriminalisation may involve the removal of all penalties. Alternatively, civil or administrative penalties rather than criminal penalties may be imposed following decriminalisation. If so, these penalties should be less punitive than those imposed under criminalisation, and lead to increased voluntary access to evidence-and human rights-based harm reduction, health and social services.¹⁰

High-level support for decriminalisation

The United Nations (UN) Secretary General Ban Ki Moon has repeatedly supported the removal of criminal sanctions for people who use drugs. At the occasion of the 2015 International Day Against Drug Abuse and Illegal Trafficking, he called on UN member states to 'consider alternatives to criminalization and incarceration of people who use drugs and focus criminal justice efforts to those involved in supply. We should increase the focus on public health, prevention, treatment and care, as well as on economic, social and cultural strategies'.¹¹

A number of UN agencies have also issued statements in favour of decriminalising drug use, including the Joint UN Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS),¹² the UN Development Programme (UNDP)¹³, the WHO¹⁴, the Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights (OHCHR),¹⁵ and UN Women,¹⁶ as well as the UN Special Rapporteur on the right to health.¹⁷

Similarly, the Executive Director of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) stated in 2013 that people who use drugs should 'not [be] treated as criminals' and in 2015 UNODC's Regional Representative for Southeast Asia and the Pacific called for a shift from a 'sanction-oriented to a health-oriented approach to drug use and dependence.'18

The International Narcotics Control Board (INCB) has further emphasised the need for a non-punitive approach to drug use, and clarified the requirements of the UN drug conventions, when its President declared in 2015:

The treaties do not require the incarceration of drug users, but rather provide for alternatives to conviction or punishment for those affected by drug abuse, including treatment, education, after-care, rehabilitation and social reintegration. That some countries have chosen incarceration rather than treatment has been a denial by governments of the flexibility that the treaties provide. ¹⁹

A series of international experts and high-profile individuals have also supported calls for decriminalisation, via a number

of declarations (for example, the 2010 Vienna Declaration, which called for the decriminalisation of drug use due to the mounting scientific evidence of harmful consequences of drug law enforcement, including human rights violations and the undermining of public health systems).²⁰ A landmark report by the Global Commission on Drug Policy, published in 2014, also recommended decriminalisation of drug use, and possession of drugs for personal use, along with the provision of harm reduction and treatment measures for people who are dependent on drugs.²¹

Decriminalisation permitted under international law

The three UN drug conventions that shape drug policy globally are:

- The Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs of 1961, as amended by the 1972 Protocol;²²
- The UN Convention on Psychotropic Substances of 1971;²³ and
- The UN Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988.²⁴

There is a commonly held misconception among policy makers that these conventions require signatory states to criminalise drug use and possession for personal consumption. In fact, there is no specific obligation in the UN drug conventions to make drug use *per se* a criminal offence – the treaties do not oblige countries to impose any penalty (criminal or administrative) for drug use.²⁵ On the contrary, the preambles of these conventions place 'health and welfare' as overarching concerns – and as the INCB President recently confirmed, the conventions recognise that: 'the drug issue is first and foremost a matter of public and individual health and welfare'.²⁶

The conventions also grant flexibility with respect to the legal response to the illicit possession of drugs for personal use. The 1988 Convention requires countries to establish possession of drugs for personal use as a criminal offence, subject to the caveat that countries can choose their legal framework for drug control, based on each country's 'constitutional principles and the basic concepts of its legal system'. This means that states can opt out of the requirement to criminalise possession for personal use if it would be unconstitutional (for example, based on human rights considerations) or otherwise contrary to their legal system. The 1988 Convention further states:

The Parties may provide, either as an alternative to conviction or punishment, or in addition to conviction or punishment of an offence...measures for the treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration of the offender.²⁷

Decriminalising drug use and possession for personal use is therefore permitted by the international drug conventions. Further information on obligations under international law is available in **Annex 1**.

Growing support for shifting away from punishment – but not yet in Asia

At least 25 countries worldwide have adopted laws, policies or other measures to decriminalise drug use and possession of drugs for personal use. This includes countries in Europe, North America, Latin America, the Caribbean and Oceania. Many of these countries have replaced criminal sanctions with referrals to health and social services or administrative penalties such as minor fines. Some countries have removed all penalties for possession of small quantities of drugs for personal use. 29

However, the national drug control policies and strategies established in Asia remain strongly oriented towards law enforcement and supply reduction, and continue to impose detention or imprisonment as sanctions for drug use or possession of drugs for personal use. The region retains the most severe penalties for drug offences, including the death penalty for drug trafficking which is imposed as a mandatory sentence in some countries.³⁰ Although many countries in Asia have introduced legal mechanisms to compel people arrested for drug use to attend treatment and 'rehabilitation' (including to CCDUs often labelled as 'rehabilitation' centres, see section 2.6), no country in the region has sought to remove all sanctions for drug use or possession of drugs for personal use. In addition, several countries conduct police raids to harass or arrest users,31 implement forced urine testing, and impose compulsory registration with security or law enforcement agencies for people who use drugs.³² Some countries also impose corporal punishment as a penalty for possession of drugs, even where possession is for personal use (e.g. caning or whipping in Brunei, Malaysia and Singapore).33 In some countries, the possession of drug use equipment such as needles and syringes is also criminalised (e.g. Brunei, Singapore and the Philippines).34

Policy makers in Asia have sought to justify these strict measures as necessary to eradicate the illicit drug trade – as called for in the 2009 *UN Political Declaration and Plan of Action on the World Drug Problem.*³⁵ In Southeast Asia, the eradication of supply and demand was also identified as key to achieving the commitment made in 1998 to achieving 'a drug-free ASEAN by 2020', with the deadline brought forward to 2015 in the year 2000.³⁶ The goal of eradicating all drugs has also been enshrined in the national drug policies of a number of countries in the region, for example Indonesia, Lao PDR and Myanmar.³⁷ More recently, policy makers in India and Sri Lanka have adopted similar language.³⁸

Evidence from countries in Asia and around the world demonstrates that governments have clearly failed to achieve drug-free goals.³⁹ The pursuit of such goals has led to disproportionate investment in law enforcement and criminal justice interventions, at the expense of public health, where the most severe impacts are borne by people who use drugs. In this context, it is critical that drug policies balance security, health and harm reduction, and do not rely on the criminalisation and punishment of people who use drugs.

Within Asia, some political and community leaders have now started to acknowledge the futility of pursuing the unrealistic goal of drug eradication. For example, Thailand's Minister of Justice told an audience in 2015 that the eradication of all drugs was a counterproductive policy goal, associated with systemic police corruption and overcrowding of prisons with non-violent offenders. ⁴⁰ At the 4th ASEAN Ministerial Meeting on Drugs (2015), Malaysia's Deputy Prime Minister conceded that ASEAN had failed to meet the 2015 target for total drug eradication, which he described as 'an illusion'. ⁴¹

Nevertheless, although most governments in Asia may now recognise that drug use has a public health dimension, it is still primarily perceived as a public security issue. Hence, governments have been hesitant to take the decisive steps required to shift away from the criminalisation and punishment of people who use drugs. Further, there has been a lack of understanding of the nature of the legislative and policy reforms needed to establish a new healthoriented paradigm that guarantees voluntary access to evidence-based treatment and harm reduction services. As Asian countries are likely to face significant implementation challenges in transitioning from criminalisation to a more robust public health approach (including political pressure to retain a hard-line, zero-tolerance approach to drugs), public support for new policy directions will be critical. Efforts would be required to dispel fears that decriminalisation will lead to a rapid escalation of drug use and crime. This may require engaging the media to assist in educating the community about the harms caused by criminalisation, and the public health and security benefits of decriminalisation as demonstrated by global experience (see **Annex 2** for suggestions on practical steps to undertake in implementing decriminalisation).

The negative consequences of criminalising and punishing drug use in Asia

The criminalisation of people who use drugs in Asia and elsewhere around the world has failed to deter drug use – there is no evidence that increasing the ferocity of law enforcement or the severity of punishments results in meaningful reductions in the prevalence of drug use. ⁴² Available data shows that countries that impose severe penalties for possession and consumption of drugs are no more likely to deter drug use than countries that impose less severe sanctions. ⁴³

In addition to being ineffective, the criminalisation of people who use drugs across Asia has resulted in immense harms to individuals and societies.

Firstly, punitive legal frameworks have been premised on the notion that drug use represents a 'social evil' or a 'moral failing', contributing to the threat posed by drug markets to the 'social fabric of nations' and 'stability of states', 'a instead of being grounded on a scientific understanding about drugs, drug use and drug dependence. This has contributed to high levels of stigma and discrimination associated with drug use – deterring people who use drugs from accessing essential health and social services such as harm reduction, treatment, as well as housing,

Table 1 HIV prevalence among people who inject drugs in Asia^{46*}

Country	Numbers of people who inject drugs (estimate)	Adult HIV prevalence amongst people who inject drugs (%)
Philippines	14,000	44.9
Indonesia	74,326	36.4
Pakistan	104,848	27.2
Cambodia	1,300	24.8
Myanmar	83,000	23.1
Thailand	40,300	19
Malaysia	170,000	16.6 (male)
Vietnam	271,506	10.5 (male)
India	177,000	7.2
Nepal	52,174	6.3 (male)
China	2,170,000	6
Afghanistan	36,000	4.4 (male)
Singapore	10,000 – 20,000	1.5
Bangladesh	23,800	1.1
Sri Lanka	423	0

^{*}The HIV prevalence rates amongst people who inject drugs in some cities are significantly higher than national prevalence rates, for example, 56% in Jakarta (Indonesia), 18.3% in New Delhi (India), and 15.7% in Herat (Afghanistan). The HIV prevalence rates among people who inject drugs for Bhutan, Brunei, Japan, Lao PDR, and South Korea are not known.

education and employment, further exacerbating their social marginalisation.

Secondly the criminalisation of people who use drugs, as well as legal restrictions on distribution of needles and syringes and the provision of OST, have fuelled Asia's escalating HIV epidemics (see Table 1). In contexts where drug use is criminalised, people who use drugs are deterred from accessing the health services they may need, and are more likely to use drugs in unsafe environments. They may engage in hurried, higher-risk injecting practices including sharing of injecting equipment. This increases their vulnerability to HIV and other infections, overdoses and other injuries associated with unsafe injecting practices.

Most countries in Asia provide OST and/or NSPs, which are harm reduction interventions that play a critical role in the prevention of HIV and other blood-borne viruses (see **Figure 1**). However, the accessibility of people who inject drugs to these harm reduction interventions throughout the region is inadequate.⁴⁷

Thirdly, in criminalised contexts, abuses perpetrated by law enforcement personnel against people who use drugs are commonplace.⁴⁸ These abuses include extortion and entrapment, violence and harassment. Frequent police abuse drive people who use drugs away from life-saving health and social care services.⁴⁹

Furthermore, criminalising people who use drugs has increased prison populations, creating additional pressure on government budgets. In many countries, a large portion of the national prison population is comprised of people in pre-trial detention or imprisoned for drug use or minor drug-related offences. The proportion of the prison population held on drug-related offences is estimated at 60% in Indonesia, 50% in the Philippines, 51 64% in Thailand 52 and 70% in

Box 1 Vietnam: innovative policy for people who cultivate drugs for subsistence purposes

Vietnam provides an example of a flexible approach to policing drug cultivation. The cultivation of plants destined for the illicit drug market remains a criminal offence in the country. However, the cultivation of opium poppy has a long history among Vietnam's ethnic populations. Therefore, the law provides some leniency towards farmers. Criminal liability is only imposed on a person who has returned to cultivation after being the subject of several non-custodial measures, including education, financial and technical support for alternative cultivation, and the imposition of a fine or warning. A record of previous administrative sanctions is required before a farmer is convicted of a criminal offence, and faces imprisonment.⁵³

MONGOLIA MAN PAKISTAN HONG KONG MACAU BANGLADESH DE LAOS THAILAND HILIPPINES CAMBODIA BRUNE SRI LANKA MALDIVES SINGAPORE Both NSP and OST available OST only NSP only Neither available Not known

Figure 1 Map of availability of NSPs and OST in Asia⁵⁴

Myanmar.⁵⁵ In some cases, these high incarceration rates and the overcrowding that results is causing a crisis in criminal justice systems. Overcrowded prison facilities also provide a high-risk environment for the transmission of HIV, hepatitis C and tuberculosis, with public health implications for the entire community.⁵⁶

Finally, the criminalisation of people who use drugs has given rise to a range of adverse human security outcomes. Governments invest significant financial and human resources on policing, prosecuting and imprisoning low-level offenders, rather than focusing on high-level trafficking operations and organised crime. The removal of criminal penalties applying to people who use drugs would allow more resources to be invested in reducing the violence, corruption and money laundering associated with illicit drug supply.

Decriminalising other drug offences: cultivation for subsistence purposes

While the main focus of this report is the decriminalisation of people who use drugs, it should be noted that there

are also strong human rights arguments in favour of decriminalising other aspects of the illicit drug market.

For example, existing legal frameworks impose harsh punishment on small-scale subsistence farmers involved in the cultivation of crops destined for the illicit drug market. These individuals are generally involved in illicit crop cultivation in order to buy food, clothes and to access basic health and education. This is the case in Asia, where opium cultivation is strongly linked to poverty. In the 'Golden Triangle' region of Southeast Asia, most households involved in opium cultivation are impoverished subsistence farmers from ethnic minority populations living in remote mountain areas. They grow opium as a cash crop to solve food insecurity and to pay for health and education (opium is also used traditionally, as a medicine).⁵⁷ Criminalising subsistence farmers exacerbates their situation of poverty and vulnerability, without addressing the root causes of their involvement in the illicit market, or offering legal alternatives for their survival.

2.2 The key principles of decriminalisation

Different models of decriminalisation have been developed worldwide.⁵⁸ Decriminalisation approaches can achieve positive health, security and social outcomes if they are **evidence-based**, and grounded in the principles of **public health**, **harm reduction**, **human rights and social inclusion**.

Evidence-based

Drug policy should be based on the strongest evidence available. Governments should base their decisions on an objective assessment of the evidence of the impact of laws, policies and practices, by considering factors such as:

- the relative costs and cost-effectiveness of different approaches to drug control.
- the distinction between the needs of people dependent on drugs compared to those who use drugs occasionally or recreationally. The UNODC has reported that only about 10% of all people who use drugs experience drug dependence.⁵⁹ As a result, only a minority of people who use drugs may need, and benefit from, drug treatment.
- the need to offer a range of drug dependence treatment options, including detoxification, rehabilitation, psychological care and peer support. Evidence shows that treatment and care must be tailored to individual circumstances, and take account of the varying health and social impacts of different drugs, rather than imposing a 'one-size-fits-all' approach.⁶⁰ As explained in section 2.6, CCDUs do not constitute an evidence-based form of treatment and should therefore be phased out.

Public health and harm reduction

Harm reduction refers to 'policies, programmes and practices that aim primarily to reduce the adverse health, social and economic consequences of the use of legal and illegal psychoactive drugs without necessarily reducing drug consumption.'61 It is an approach that benefits people who use drugs, their families and the community.

Decriminalisation should be seen as part of a harm reduction approach; key to creating an enabling environment for the provision of public health interventions for people who use drugs. In 2009, the WHO, the UNODC and UNAIDS recommended a comprehensive package of nine harm reduction interventions based on scientific evidence of efficacy in preventing the spread of HIV, in addition to reducing other harms associated with drug use.⁶² These nine interventions were re-affirmed by the WHO in its consolidated guidelines released in 2014, which further recommended the implementation of overdose prevention measures:⁶³

- NSPs
- 2. OST and other drug dependence treatment
- 3. HIV testing and counselling
- 4. Antiretroviral therapy
- Prevention and treatment of sexually transmitted infections

- 6. Condom distribution
- 7. Targeted information, education and communication
- 8. Vaccination, diagnosis and treatment of viral hepatitis
- 9. Prevention, diagnosis and treatment of tuberculosis.

The International HIV/AIDS Alliance has expanded this package to also include: basic health services (including overdose prevention and management); services for people who are drug dependent or using drugs in prison or detention; advocacy; psychosocial support; access to justice and legal services; children and youth programmes; and livelihood development or economic strengthening.64 IDPC has also proposed a set of additional harm reduction interventions, including: drug checking services, the distribution of smoking paraphernalia, supervised drug consumption facilities, as well as social support services (which may include housing, shelter and employment services).65 Additional measures specifically targeted at reducing the harms related to the use of amphetaminetype stimulants were recently developed by Harm Reduction International.66

The health benefits of harm reduction include reductions in illness and deaths, by preventing the transmission of HIV and other blood-borne viruses, reducing overdose deaths and increasing access to healthcare services including drug treatment services. Harm reduction interventions such as NSPs and OST are proven to be cost-effective when scaled-up nationally, with significant savings generated to national health budgets (see, for example, the analysis of the return on investment of harm reduction programmes in Malaysia and China).⁶⁷

Box 2 Engaging people who use drugs in policy development

The Asian Network of People who Use Drugs (ANPUD) is a regional network that operates at grassroots level and has made strong calls for decriminalisation. ANPUD has called on governments, UN and donor agencies to promote, facilitate and financially support the meaningful participation of people who use drugs and civil society groups in local, national, regional and global forums relating to drug policy.

Some countries in Asia also have national networks of people who use drugs (e.g. India, Indonesia, Myanmar and Nepal) that are linked to local self-help and advocacy groups of people who use (or previously used) drugs. These networks and organisations constitute an invaluable resource for governments seeking to implement voluntary and rights-based services for people who use drugs.

Human rights

Under international human rights law, UN member states are required to respect, protect and fulfil the right to health for all people, without discrimination – as guaranteed in a number of international legal instruments, in particular the *International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.*⁷⁰

The criminalisation of people who use drugs is in direct violation of the right to health. Fear of criminal penalties deters people who use drugs from using health services and treatment, and increases their vulnerability to violence, discrimination and serious health harms. The criminalisation of drug use also places people at risk of torture, forced labour and ill-treatment and infringes on human rights to autonomy, privacy, work, education and housing.⁷¹ These rights are all recognised under international law, including in the *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights*.⁷²

Limitations on human rights may be justified, but only if they meet the criteria of 'legitimate purpose', 'proportionality', 'necessity', and 'non-discrimination'.⁷¹ While protecting health is a legitimate government purpose, the criminalisation of drug use has in fact exacerbated health harms for both people who use drugs and the wider community and therefore cannot be justified under the international human rights framework. Evidence shows that less intrusive and more humane and effective approaches than criminalisation could be implemented to reduce the harms associated with drug use, while upholding the right to health of people who use drugs – this includes the provision of harm reduction and social support, as well as evidence-based drug dependence treatment (see the above principle on 'public health and harm reduction').

Social inclusion

Although drug use is a global phenomenon, drug-related harms and drug dependence are often concentrated among the poorest and most marginalised communities – as social exclusion, poverty and harsh living conditions can be major factors contributing to drug dependence.⁷⁴ The principle of social inclusion is therefore of fundamental importance.

Punitive drug laws and policies can contribute to social exclusion by stigmatising people who use drugs and restricting their ability to engage in social and economic activities. Approaches that focus on arrest and criminal sanctions towards people who use drugs have little deterrent effect, and remove people from positive social influences while increasing their exposure to health risks and criminal groups. Police crackdowns can force people who use drugs to remain hidden, making it difficult for health and social programmes to reach them.⁷⁵ Similarly, media campaigns that demonise people who use drugs and policies that encourage neighbours to report people who use drugs to the police also drive people who use drugs underground. Finally, people with a criminal record for drug offences are often excluded from education or employment opportunities, and are thereby consigned to 'informal' or illegal sectors of the economy.

Decriminalisation can play a positive role in promoting social inclusion by reducing stigma and removing barriers to health services, education and employment. Drug policy should be designed to benefit vulnerable populations, particularly people who use and are dependent on drugs, rather than to alienate them or exacerbate their marginalisation. In implementing decriminalisation of drug use, groups that require special attention include people living with HIV, hepatitis and/or tuberculosis, as well as people with other specific mental and physical health needs, people with disabilities, adolescents, women (especially pregnant women), sex workers, migrants, asylum seekers and refugees, homeless people and other marginalised groups.⁷⁶ For example, women who use drugs report discrimination in a range of areas including in relation to their role as child-bearers and mothers, such as limited or contingent access to contraception or healthcare, coerced and forced abortion, and denial of access to children.77

Transparency, accountability and the participation of people who use drugs in policy making processes are key to ensuring social inclusion. A wide range of stakeholders should be meaningfully involved in policy development and programme implementation, delivery and evaluation. The principle of social inclusion requires that people be involved in decisions that affect them. Civil society groups and community-based organisations can ensure policy decisions are well informed in relation to the realities of drug markets. Governments should therefore build open and constructive relationships with communities affected by drug policies, particularly networks of people who use drugs and civil society organisations, in the design and delivery of decriminalisation approaches.

2.3 Best practice experiences of decriminalisation around the world

This section describes country experiences in implementing decriminalisation that are consistent with the principles of public health, harm reduction, human rights and social inclusion. As will be described below, decriminalisation may apply to all drugs, or be limited to specific drugs. Decriminalisation can be achieved through either of two approaches:

- *de jure* decriminalisation: criminal penalties are formally removed from the law through legal reforms.
- de facto decriminalisation: criminal penalties remain in the law, but in practice the criminal penalties are not enforced or applied.

2.3.1 *De jure* decriminalisation

De jure decriminalisation requires the amendment or repeal of legislation to remove criminal penalties for:

- drug use
- · possession and cultivation of drugs for personal use, and
- possession of drug use equipment (e.g. needles and syringes, and other drug use paraphernalia such as swabs, spoons, filters and water ampoules).

Under a *de jure* decriminalisation approach, civil or administrative (non-criminal) sanctions may be established, such as fines. Therefore, in addition to removing criminal penalties, legislation may also need to be developed that defines these new civil or administrative penalties. Alternatively, there could be no sanction at all for drug use and possession or cultivation for personal use, and instead referrals to treatment, health or social services on a voluntary basis.

Decriminalisation models with no sanctions

Uruguay has adopted a model of decriminalisation in which the law does not impose any sanctions (criminal or administrative) for drug use or possession of 'a reasonable quantity' of drugs for personal use.⁷⁸ However, criminal sanctions apply in the case of a person who *produces* drugs, even if the drug is produced for the person's own consumption.

Decriminalisation models with civil or administrative sanctions

In many models of *de jure* decriminalisation, the use or possession of drugs are treated as civil or administrative offences, rather than as criminal ones. Non-criminal sanctions in different jurisdictions include: fines, community service orders, cautions or formal warnings, mandatory treatment or counselling and education sessions, suspension of driver's or professional licences and mandatory drug testing.⁷⁹

Countries that consider drug use or possession of small quantities of drugs for personal use to be an administrative offence, rather than a criminal offence, include the Czech Republic, Portugal, Germany, Estonia, Spain and Switzerland. Some countries have reformed their drug laws to replace

criminal sanctions with administrative penalties for cannabis, but not other drugs (e.g. some Australian states).80

This approach can be effective if the consequences of an administrative sanction are minor (such as small fines or drug confiscation, rather than detention). The imposition of administrative sanctions instead of criminal penalties can provide budgetary benefits by avoiding the expense of the criminal justice process, including pretrial detention, court hearings and imprisonment. The fact that the individual does not receive a criminal record is also beneficial to future employment, education and housing prospects.

Nevertheless, where administrative penalties are applied, caution needs to be exercised to ensure that the penalties do not compound the social exclusion of people who use drugs. Some countries impose fines (including on-the-spot fines issued by the police) for possession of drugs for

Box 3 Comparing different models of decriminalisation

The models of decriminalisation implemented all over the world vary widely. IDPC has developed an e-tool, which maps out how these models work in practice, describing their legal framework, the role of the police, the judicial or administrative process, the applicable sanction (if any), and examples of countries to illustrate each model. The e-tool enables the comparison of various models of decriminalisation. It can be viewed at: http://decrim.idpc.net.

Box 4 Best practice approach to decriminalisation

A best practice model of decriminalisation is one in which the law is changed to remove *all* penalties (i.e. removal of all civil or administrative sanctions as well as criminal sanctions). It is one in which no sanctions whatsoever apply to people for drug use, possession or cultivation of drugs for personal use, or possession of drug use equipment. However, restrictions may apply to regulate such activities in limited circumstances such as drug use in public spaces.

To maximise public health outcomes, when decriminalisation is implemented governments should allocate resources to ensure that evidence-based health, harm reduction and support services are available and accessible to all people who use drugs.

This combination of legal reform and health measures represents best practice for an approach to decriminalisation that is evidence-based and consistent with principles of human rights, public health, harm reduction and social inclusion.

Table 2 International experiences in *de jure* decriminalisation

	Legal framework	Police authority	Judicial / administrative process	Sanctions for drug use	Country examples
Drug use or possession is not an offence	Possession or use is not a punishable offence; law distinguishes between personal use and intent to supply	The police do not have the authority to detain people as long as there is no indication of intent to supply	No further action in the absence of indication of intent to supply	Confiscation of drugs above amount that may reasonably be required for personal use	Uruguay
Police discretion	Possession is not a criminal act but it is an administrative offence	Police can determine the nature of the offence - if deemed to be possession only, on the spot sanction can be applied, if not referral to criminal justice system	No further action in the absence of indication of intent to supply	Confiscation; warning or fine	Spain, some Australian states (for cannabis only)
Administrative decision	Possession not a criminal act but it is an administrative offence	Police can detain people in possession of drugs and refer them to an administrative body; criminal justice proceedings only start if there is suspicion of intent to supply	Civil or administrative body determines the appropriate health or social intervention	Confiscation; warning or fine; referral to treatment; other administrative sanctions	Portugal, Czech Republic
Criminal justice decision	Possession not a criminal act but it is an administrative offence	Police can detain people in possession of drugs but have no authority to determine the nature of the offence. The case is referred by police to state prosecutors or to the judiciary	Judicial authorities (including state prosecutors) determine if the act falls within the legal parameters set for personal use	Confiscation; warning or fine; referral to treatment; other administrative sanctions	Germany, Estonia, Argentina (proposed)

personal use. If a system of fines is to be adopted, it should be set at a reasonable level and not result in imprisonment for non-payment. Other forms of civil penalties, such as confiscation of passports or suspension of driver's licences, should be avoided as they can have an unduly negative and disproportionate impact on a person's life, including employment opportunities.

De jure decriminalisation in Asia

Both China and Vietnam have removed criminal sanctions for drug use, but have replaced them with highly punitive administrative sanctions such as detention in CCDUs. In Lao PDR, possession of very small quantities of drugs has been decriminalised, but people who use drugs are directed to

Box 5 Portugal: Global good practice example in de jure decriminalisation

Portugal decriminalised the possession of small amounts of all drugs in 2001. The possession of less than 10 days' supply⁸¹ of drugs for personal use is an administrative violation, rather than a criminal offence. The first time an offender is detected, usually no action is taken. The person's name is recorded by the authorities and after six months their name is removed from the records. However, if the person is detected with drugs on a second occasion within the six-month period, the case is referred to a district-level commission comprising three people including health and social workers. The commission decides whether to refer the person to health services, impose an administrative sanction or take no further action.

Members of the commission focus on a health-centred approach to design individualised plans that address health and social needs including referral to treatment, harm reduction services and social services. The sanctions the panel may apply include requiring treatment for those who are found to be dependent on drugs, requiring regular reporting to the panel, mandating community service, suspending a driver's licence or other licences, or, as a last resort, issuing administrative fines. People who are dependent on drugs are encouraged to seek treatment, but are rarely sanctioned if they choose not to attend. The aim of the commissions is to encourage people who are drug dependent to enter or remain in a drug treatment programme voluntarily.⁸²

Evaluations of Portugal's model confirm positive health outcomes including a decrease in heroin use, an increase in the uptake of drug treatment services, and a decrease

in drug-related deaths and levels of HIV and hepatitis C. The annual number of new HIV cases reduced dramatically, from 1,016 in 2001 to 56 in 2012. Deaths related to drug use decreased from 80 in 2001, to 16 in 2012.⁸³

Decriminalisation has also reduced pressures on the criminal justice system.⁸⁴ There was a reduction in the number of people arrested and attending criminal courts for drug offences from over 14,000 in 2000, to around 5,500-6,000 per year after decriminalisation.⁸⁵ This approach also freed-up criminal justice resources to tackle high-level trafficking and organised crime. The proportion of people who committed offences under the influence of drugs or to fund drug use in the prison population declined from 44% in 1999, to just under 21% in 2012.⁸⁶

Portugal's approach is considered a successful model of decriminalisation because the government invested heavily in treatment, harm reduction and social reintegration programmes for people who use drugs as the legal changes were implemented. At the same time as funding for health and social services increased, people who use drugs became more willing to access health services because of the reduced stigma that resulted from decriminalisation.87 Since decriminalisation, there has not been an increase in drug use; in fact, decreases in drug use have been reported among young people aged 15-24.88 A study on the impact of decriminalisation on the price of drugs in Portugal found that prices of cocaine and heroin did not decrease following decriminalisation. 89 Therefore, decriminalising drug use has not led to an increase in the availability of drugs due to price reductions.

compulsory treatment and can be imprisoned for relapse. These do not represent models of decriminalisation that comply with principles of human rights, public health, harm reduction and social inclusion. The ineffectiveness of administrative detention in CCDUs as a deterrent and in treating drug use, and its associated harms, is discussed in **section 2.6.**

2.3.2 De facto decriminalisation

De facto decriminalisation achieves a similar outcome to *de jure* decriminalisation but is achieved through a policy decision not to enforce criminal laws that technically remain in force. Current models of *de facto* decriminalisation have the following characteristics:

- Drug use and/or possession for personal use is a criminal offence, but policy and police practice allows people who use drugs to avoid a criminal conviction and criminal penalties.
- Instead of a criminal conviction and criminal penalties, either:
 - · no penalty applies; or
 - minor civil or administrative sanctions apply; and/or
 - the person is diverted to treatment, health and social services or counselling and education.

Whereas decriminalisation through law reform may take many years to achieve, *de facto* decriminalisation can be implemented relatively rapidly through pragmatic policy adjustments. However, as it is not backed by legislation, *de facto* decriminalisation can easily be reversed by a decision to apply the existing criminal law.

The Netherlands has a *de facto* approach to decriminalisation of cannabis use. It remains an offence to cultivate, supply and consume cannabis in the country, but as a matter of policy the government does not prosecute certain cannabis use and possession offences.

Some Australian states also apply a *de facto* decriminalisation approach to drug use through police diversion programmes. A system of cautions or diversion to treatment, education and counselling operate as an alternative to criminal conviction. Education may take the form of provision of written materials, telephone or face-to-face information, education and counselling sessions.

De facto decriminalisation in Asia

No country in Asia has fully implemented *de facto* decriminalisation of drug use or possession for personal use as national policy. Nonetheless, in some countries local arrangements operate at specific harm reduction sites at

Box 6 Traditional, religious and medicinal uses of drugs

Decriminalisation is being debated in some Asian countries in the context of substances that have been used for centuries in religious practices or as traditional medicines, including cannabis, opium and kratom.

Some legal frameworks do not criminalise traditional uses of certain drugs. For example, Cambodia's *Law on Drug Control* of 2011 provides that prosecutors have discretion to relinquish the offender from prosecution if the offence committed in connection with drugs involves a small quantity and is part of **customary consumption**. Consumption is deemed 'customary' if it does not result in drug dependence and if the person uses the substance as part of ancestral customs that have been practiced over a long period of time.⁹⁰

India does not criminalise drinks made from **cannabis leaves ('bhang')**, which are used in Hindu religious festivals. ⁹¹ A consultation held in 2015 on decriminalisation of drug use in India recommended removing criminal sanctions for consumption of drugs with traditional uses:

'Differentiation should be made between substances which have lesser addiction potential and have traditionally been used in the Indian society. Such substances include preparations of cannabis (ganja, sulpha, etc.) and some low potency opioids (doda, bhukki, afeem, etc.).'92

which police have agreed to either avoid arresting people who use drugs or to refer people to health services as an alternative to arrest and prosecution. Where an ongoing police commitment to avoid arrests is secured, this can in effect operate as a local version of *defacto* decriminalisation.

In the Philippines, for example, the possession of drugs and drug use equipment is criminalised. To enable a study on a pilot needle and syringe distribution programme, a specific village (Barangay Kamagayan) was designated by the local government in Cebu City as an area where no arrests for possession of drug injecting equipment would be carried out. However, the pilot study was halted in 2015 following opposition from a senator.⁹⁸

Similarly, in some localities in Cambodia, China, Thailand and Vietnam, mechanisms have been established to ensure that the police do not arrest people who use drugs, and instead refer them to health and harm reduction services (see **section 3.3** for more details).

These mechanisms and approaches could inform the development of national *de facto* decriminalisation models in the future. They represent positive steps towards a public health-based approach to drug use. However, as yet such examples of good practice are exceptional and limited to specific local jurisdictions.

Proposals for legalising the **medical use of cannabis** are under active consideration in India, where health-care workers are leading a campaign advocating for law reform so that cannabis can be used in the treatment of cancer and other illnesses; and the Philippines, where Congress is debating the *Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis Act.*⁹³ Several countries in other regions have legalised cannabis for medical uses (e.g. Czech Republic, Israel and over 20 US states).

In Nepal and Bangladesh, the police tolerate the possession of **cannabis for religious uses** (but not commercial dealing) during certain festivals e.g. the Shivarati festival in Nepal.⁹⁴

Kratom is a plant indigenous to Southeast Asia which is used as an antidiarrheal, a cough suppressant, an antidiabetic, a deworming agent and wound poultice.⁹⁵ Kratom is a controlled substance in Thailand, Myanmar and Malaysia. In Myanmar and Thailand, the number of kratom related arrests more than doubled between 2007 and 2011.⁹⁶ In 2013, Thailand's Minister of Justice announced that his office was considering decriminalising kratom, however it remains a controlled substance. Thai civil society groups are continuing to advocate for the decriminalisation of kratom.⁹⁷

In some countries in Asia, procedures have also been introduced to enable the diversion of some people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system and towards treatment and services (e.g. India and Thailand), even though possession of any quantity of drugs remains a criminal offence (see **section 3.3 and 3.5**).

However, in all these countries, the overall policy approach to drugs remains highly punitive, with drug use and/or possession and cultivation for personal use remaining criminalised. In addition, police harassment is still reported at many harm reduction programme sites across Asia, and political support for harm reduction programmes is often ambivalent. Policies that conflict with harm reduction remain in place in some countries, for example the offering of incentives that encourage police arrest of people who use drugs even in the vicinity of harm reduction sites by setting arrest quotas (in Vietnam and China), inclusion of drug arrests as a key performance indicator (in Malaysia⁹⁹ and Thailand), and compulsory reporting of drug use to authorities by family members, acquaintances or neighbours (in China and Indonesia).

There needs to be a significant reorientation of national drug policies and new investments in harm reduction, treatment, health and support services to provide the foundations for an effective model of decriminalisation that complies with the principles of human rights, public health, harm reduction and social inclusion.

Table 3 Types of *de facto* decriminalisation: Global experiences

	Legal framework	Police authority	Judicial / administra- tive process	Sanctions for drug use	Examples
No sanction	Possession is a criminal offence, but police and/or prosecution are given instructions not to intervene based on discretionary powers	Police do not have the authority to detain people as long as there is no indication of intent to supply	No further action in the absence of indication of intent to supply	Confiscation	The Netherlands (for cannabis)
Police diversion	Possession is a criminal offence but policy provides alternative sanctions to prison	Police can determine the nature of the offence and decide the sanction (or no sanction), or refer to a senior official for a specialist assessment at the police station	No further action in the absence of indication of intent to supply	Confiscation; warning or fine; other administrative sanctions. Referrals to treatment, harm reduction and social services are also offered	Some cities in the USA (Albany, Seattle, Santa Fe), some Australian states
Criminal justice diversion	Possession is a criminal offence but policy/ legislation provides for alternative sanctions to prison	Police can arrest people in possession of drugs	Judicial authorities have the discretion to refer the individual to treatment or other non-criminal sanctions	Confiscation; warning or fine. Referrals to treatment, harm reduction and social services are also offered	Some states in Australia and the USA

2.4 Effective use of threshold quantities in decriminalisation models¹⁰⁰

Use of thresholds to decriminalise possession of small quantities

Many of the countries that have implemented decriminalisation have done so by establishing threshold quantities to differentiate possession of drugs for personal use from possession for trafficking or supply. A person found in possession of a quantity of drugs below the threshold is not subject to criminal penalties, but may be subject to administrative penalties or diverted to treatment, health services and education. Threshold quantities may be used in both de facto decriminalisation (where the thresholds may be established by government policies or police quidelines) and de jure decriminalisation models (where the thresholds are established by laws or regulations). Threshold quantities may be defined in relation to specific drugs. For example, Table 4 sets out the threshold quantities established in different countries for decriminalisation of possession of cannabis, which vary greatly, ranging from 3 grams in Belgium to 200 grams in Spain.

Some countries specify that no criminal penalties apply for the possession of a quantity sufficient for personal use for a given number of days, based on the average daily dose (see the examples of this approach in Spain and Portugal in **Table 5** below).

Concerns with establishing threshold quantities

It should be noted that establishing thresholds is controversial and some countries prefer not to use them, referring instead to the broad term'small quantity'in laws or guidelines. This allows discretion for prosecutors or judges to determine whether the quantity of drugs possessed was intended for personal use, taking into consideration all of the unique circumstances of the case in question – such as a long history of drug use and referrals to health and harm reduction services.

Threshold quantities can be helpful if they enable the police, prosecutors and courts to clearly distinguish drug use from low-level dealing and from higher-level engagement in the drug market to generate profit. However, arguments against the use of thresholds include the fact that the methods by which thresholds have been devised tend to be *ad hoc* and non-transparent – resulting in very different quantities set out in a variety of countries, as highlighted in **Table 4** on the decriminalisation of cannabis possession. The amounts defined in law or police and/or prosecutorial guidance should be based on evidence of drug market realities, in order to minimise the number of people who use drugs who are prosecuted. This should include considerations on drug use patterns,

Table 4 Decriminalisation of possession of cannabis¹⁰¹

Country	Threshold quantity for decriminalisation of cannabis possession (grams)
Spain	200
Australia (varies by State / Territory)	
South Australia	100
Northern Territory	50
Australian Capital Territory	25
Portugal	25
Colombia	20
Czech Republic	15
Ecuador	10
Paraguay	10
Switzerland	10
Peru	8
Russian Federation	6
Mexico	5
Netherlands (de facto)	5
Belgium	3

Table 5 Use of quantity thresholds to decriminalise drug possession for personal use

Germany

A person is not prosecuted for possession of a small amount of drugs, as defined by quantity thresholds. The definition of 'small amount' varies in different German states for different substances. With regard to cannabis, these limits vary from 6 to 15 grams; for cocaine the range is 1 to 3 grams. Some states do not have statutory threshold limits but instead look to judicial precedent to establish limits on quantities of drugs. 102

Spain

If the police find a person in possession of up to 5 days' worth of drugs (200 grams of cannabis, 25 grams of cannabis resin, 2.4 grams of ecstasy, 3 grams of heroin, 7.5 grams of cocaine) the person is likely to face an administrative penalty issued by the police. Such sanctions may include a fine, suspension of driver's licence or firearms licence, or other minor penalties. If a person is found with a quantity above the threshold, they may go before a court or a local safety board. The court or board considers a range of factors to determine whether the drugs were intended for personal use or for trade, including the quantity of the drug, whether the individual is a known user, where the drugs were found, how they were stored, and the presence of large quantities of cash.

Portugal

Possession for personal use is decriminalised. However, if a person is found with more than 10 days' worth of personal supply of a drug, the person is referred to a criminal court, where criminal charges are possible. The thresholds between a non-criminal offence and supply are specified as follows: 2.5 grams for cannabis oil; 5 grams for cannabis resin; 25 grams for cannabis leaf; 1 gram for ecstasy and heroin; and 2 grams for cocaine.

Estonia

Possession for personal use is decriminalised. However, if a person is found with more than ten times the single dose of an average user, the person may be prosecuted for supply. 103

the quantity of drugs a person will likely use per day, and patterns of purchasing.

Experiences in Asia and other regions have shown that thresholds that are set at unrealistically low levels are likely to confuse trafficking with possession for personal use. For example, Lao PDR has a system through which people found in possession of small quantities of drugs can be diverted to 'treatment' in CCDUs rather than prosecuted. However, when the thresholds used to define small quantities were established at unrealistically low levels in 2012 (0.2 grams for heroin, morphine, or cocaine; or 0.3 grams for amphetamines, crystal methamphetamine, or other psychotropic drugs),¹⁰⁴ there was a sharp rise in the number of prosecutions for drug possession, resulting in increased levels of imprisonment.

Another risk associated with thresholds is the fact that people who use drugs who possess larger quantities for personal use will be presumed to be involved in drug trafficking. There are many circumstances in which a person might have a certain quantity of drugs, but with no intent to supply. For example, a person may want to buy in bulk to limit contact with the criminal market or because bulk purchases are cheaper.

Therefore, if a government chooses to adopt threshold quantities, the quantity involved should not be the *only* or *determining* factor in distinguishing between possession for personal use and possession for supply – thresholds should ideally be *indicative*. Other factors relating to the circumstances of the individual should also be considered, such as a history of drug dependence, or conversely the possession of several mobile phones, a large amount of money, drugs divided into different packets or firearms.

When a country decides not to establish specific quantity thresholds, guidelines should be available to police, prosecutors and judges to assist them to differentiate between the possession of drugs for personal use, and possession with intent to supply. For example, such guidelines could address the issues of motivation and role of the person in relation to supplying drugs for profit.

Misuse of threshold quantities in some countries in Asia

Threshold quantities are used in Asian countries where possession for personal use continues to be criminalised, in order to define different penalty levels or to determine whether an offender may be ordered to attend a compulsory treatment programme or be detained at a CCDU. For example, in Thailand if a person is arrested in possession of less than 0.1 gram of heroin, 0.5 milligrams of methamphetamine, or 5 grams of marijuana, a judge can forward the case to a committee composed of criminal justice and medical personnel for assessment for compulsory drug detention or treatment as an alternative to prison.¹⁰⁵ Vietnam also has a system whereby people who use drugs are referred to 'treatment' in CCDUs, but may be prosecuted and imprisoned if found in possession of drugs above the applicable threshold (0.1 gram of heroin or cocaine, 2 grams of other substances in solid form, or 1 gram of opium resin).106

2.5 Removing severe administrative punishments for people who use drugs

Some Asian countries have removed criminal penalties against people who use drugs, but maintain highly punitive administrative sanctions for drug use, including detention in CCDUs (e.g. China, Lao PDR, Vietnam), compulsory registration of people who use drugs with law enforcement agencies, and urine testing. These do not represent approaches to decriminalisation that are consistent with principles of human rights, public health, harm reduction and social inclusion. Removing severe administrative punishment of people who use drugs is essential for progress to occur in moving to a model of decriminalisation that is evidence based and complies with principles of public health, harm reduction and human rights.

China¹⁰⁷

Although China has removed criminal penalties for drug use, the system of administrative sanctions that applies remains highly coercive. China's *Anti-Drug Law* of 2008 provides for 'community treatment' and 'compulsory isolated detoxification'. There are strict requirements for compulsory registration to enable monitoring of people who use drugs by the police. The coercive nature of both 'community treatment' and 'compulsory isolated detoxification' undermine their effectiveness as a health response.¹⁰⁸

The police can order people detained for drug use to receive 'community treatment' for three years if they are determined to be dependent on drugs. However, this determination can be based on a single urine test, and the police are not required to involve medical staff in the assessment. Therefore, it is likely that many people who use drugs but who are not dependent are subject to community treatment orders. Failure to comply with treatment requirements under a community agreement triggers the imposition of compulsory isolated detoxification, the length of which is up to two years. A person arrested for drug use may be detained at a police facility for detoxification for the first three to six months, and then transferred to a CCDU where they may be required to work for up to six hours each day. After release, the person is monitored by police and may be subject to random interrogations and forced urine testing for a further three years during which they may be sent to a CCDU again if they relapse.

As drug use is an administrative offence, offenders do not have a right to legal representation or the other due process protections usually available for a criminal trial. The regulations allow lawyers to assist detainees, but in reality they are seldom available. A person may lodge an administrative appeal against the decision. However, higher police officials rather than an independent body decide the appeal.

Vietnam¹⁰⁹

Drug use was decriminalised in 2009 by removal of the offence from the Penal Code.¹¹⁰ However, drug use is an administrative violation that can result in an order to attend a CCDU (known as a '06 Centre') for up to two years.¹¹¹ 06 Centres resemble labour camps, with military drills and chanting of anti-drug slogans. Repeat drug offenders are subject to an additional period of 'post-detoxification management' for between one and two years.

In 2012, legal reforms were introduced to allow people to have court hearings and legal representation in court before being subject to an order to attend a CCDU. The extent to which people who use drugs are able, in practice, to access legal representation and court hearings is unclear.¹¹²

The administrative detention system undermines the achievement of the government's HIV prevention and harm reduction goals. Those who have been detained in 06 Centres often refuse to access harm reduction services as doing so would advertise to the police that they have relapsed, which can result in prison or a further term in a 06 Centre. Reasons for avoiding health care include the fear of records being shared with police increasing the risk of arrest and fear of stigma. Relapse rates amongst former detainees are very high (often over 90%) with a majority of detainees having been detained at least once before.

A policy decision in 2013, known as the *Renovation Plan on Drug Treatment*, confirmed the transition to community-based treatment.¹¹⁵ 80 of the 107 detention centres will be transformed to provide voluntary community-based treatment, social and occupational services, including psychological support and aftercare along with drug treatment services such as detoxification, OST and relapse prevention.¹¹⁶ The *Renovation Plan* aims to reduce the number of people who use drugs detained in CCDUs from 63% in 2013 to 6% by 2020.¹¹⁷ However there are concerns that the community-based treatment models will retain coercive aspects, such as police supervision and punitive responses to relapse.

2.6 Transitioning from CCDUs to voluntary treatment and services

In many Asian countries, the dominant model for responding to drug use over the past 20 years has been compulsory detoxification in government clinics and/or lengthy periods of detention in CCDUs (e.g. Cambodia, China, Indonesia, Lao PDR, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Thailand and Vietnam). The policy of drug detention is based on flawed assumptions that punishment will serve as an effective deterrent to future drug use, and that physical discipline is essential to cure dependence. The exact number of people detained in CCDUs in these countries is unknown, but unpublished data collected by the UNODC indicates that almost half a million people are detained in seven countries. Other estimates have reported between 300,000 and 500,000 people detained in China alone. 119

The detention of people who use drugs takes many forms across the region, and CCDUs vary in terms of management, conditions and the treatments offered. Typical characteristics of these centres include: 120

- People are subject to lengthy periods of compulsory confinement, followed by periods of supervision in the community
- Many people are sent to these centres with no appropriate medical or psychological examination or an adequate assessment and diagnosis of their drug use including screening to differentiate between recreational or dependent use. This accounts for the large number of people who are sent to centres who are not drug dependent
- People dependent on drugs are rarely medically supervised, and where medical treatment is available, it is generally restricted to the acute withdrawal phase
- Treatment is generally restricted to detoxification and abstinence-based approaches that are often not voluntary or evidence-based. Substitution therapy or other forms of evidence-based treatment options are rarely available
- Many centres are staffed by security personnel rather than health workers, and there is often a lack of due process, e.g. lack of legal representation, trial or hearing, judicial oversight or appeal rights. People may be admitted under police or public security orders, or at the request of family members
- Essential health services are scarcely available, if at all.
 Most centres lack any form of HIV prevention including condoms and sterile needles and syringes. In most centres, the only HIV prevention measures available are basic information materials. HIV testing is carried out in some countries (e.g. China and Vietnam), however it is mandatory, and detainees are rarely told of their results or linked to HIV treatment and care upon diagnosis
- Forced labour, physical exercises, prayer and/or military style 'boot camp' training are required as part of the 'rehabilitation' programme
- Offenders may be monitored after release but there is little or no aftercare provided
- There have been reports of physical and sexual violence

and other human rights violations in some centres, e.g. in Cambodia, Lao PDR and Vietnam. 121

CCDUs have been subject to widespread criticism due to the lack of evidence of their effectiveness in addressing drug dependency, concerns about the lack of due process, exacerbation of health harms, and widespread reports of human rights violations. High relapse rates (often more than 90%) following release from centres have been reported in China, Malaysia, Vietnam and Cambodia, as well as high rates of overdose upon release.¹²²

In 2012, a cross-agency statement from 12 UN agencies called for the closure of CCDUs. ¹²³ In 2014, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria also called for the closure of these centres and committed not to fund programmes in these facilities. ¹²⁴ Similarly, the UNODC has been critical of the lack of evidence to justify detention in compulsory centres:

Many countries provide long-term residential treatment for drug dependence without the consent of the patient that is in reality a type of low security imprisonment. Evidence of the therapeutic effect of this approach is lacking, either compared to traditional imprisonment or to community-based voluntary drug treatment. It is expensive, not cost-effective, and neither benefits the individual nor the community.¹²⁵

Decriminalisation will not be effective in achieving positive health outcomes unless it is accompanied by a commitment to phase out CCDUs and transition to voluntary, community-based treatment, harm reduction and social services. Additionally, the dominance of compulsory models in Asia means that voluntary, community-based treatment as a more effective alternative is not well understood in the region, even though it has been found to be much more effective than compulsory treatment in many contexts globally.¹²⁶

In a positive move towards phasing out CCDUs, China and eight Southeast Asian countries agreed in 2012 to real-locate resources from CCDUs to voluntary treatment services. This commitment was reconfirmed at a regional meeting in Manila in 2015 that agreed to a roadmap to voluntary community-based services for people who use drugs in Asia. At national level, Vietnam is an example where the country is encouraging moves towards phasing out many compulsory centres and increasing the amount of resources available for voluntary community-based treatment (see **section 2.5**). Malaysia has also made progress over the last decade in reducing reliance on CCDUs.

The transition to voluntary community-based services will require sustained commitment by multiple governmental stakeholders including health, drug control and law enforcement agencies. It will require investment in establishing community-based services in areas of need, and training and capacity-building of public health, public security, criminal justice and civil society groups, as well as communities of people who use drugs to ensure their involvement in the development, delivery, monitoring and evaluation of services.¹²⁹

2.7 Promoting voluntary referrals to health and social services

As highlighted throughout this report, the gold standard of decriminalisation is to remove all punitive responses to drug use, hence providing an enabling environment for people who use drugs to access health and social services without fear of sanctions, stigma or discrimination. In such an environment, access to harm reduction and drug dependence treatment should be voluntary, and relapses in drug use should not result in punishment. Healthcare and community workers play a critical role in assessing the specific needs of people who use drugs and referring them to health services including 'low threshold' services that are easy to access for marginalised clients, as well as hospitals, specialised clinics, welfare support, housing and social services.

Involuntary treatment or detention should only be permissible in crisis situations

According to principles of medical ethics and human rights, any form of involuntary treatment or detention for the purpose of treatment can only be used in a very narrow range of rare and exceptional crisis situations, and for the short-term only (i.e. maximum of a few days):

- where the person is at high risk of injuring him/herself or others, i.e. their conduct poses an imminent threat to themselves or others
- the period of detention is strictly time-bound to a limited number of hours or days, which is no longer than strictly clinically necessary
- · the treatment provided is evidence-based and
- there are no other reasonably available, appropriate and less restrictive means of response.¹³⁰

In certain circumstances, coercive treatment may also be appropriate if the person lacks mental capacity to consent to treatment and requires an urgent treatment intervention. However, drug use and dependence are never a sufficient condition to identify a person as 'mentally incompetent'. If a person is subject to coercive, mandatory or compulsory treatment, due process protections must be afforded to the person including the right to legal representation, right to respond to allegations, to be given a statement of the reasons for the decision and a right to appeal the decision to an independent body that will consider the appeal within a reasonable timeframe.

Good practice in the provision of drug dependence treatment

The following are characteristics of good practice in the provision of drug dependence treatment:

- people are treated with respect, dignity and without judgment
- people are provided a choice of treatment and harm reduction options
- people are able to set their own goals and outcomes for treatment success – although abstinence may be a worthy goal, it may not be achievable or appropriate to all

- programmes are supportive of the person's goal of improving their health and overall well-being, and avoid relying on punishment
- recovery is assessed as any positive step or change that leads to the improvement of the person's health, wellbeing and overall quality of life¹³¹
- drug dependence treatment is holistic with attention to other health and social issues (e.g. housing, employment and legal aid).

Key features and principles of communitybased treatment

Community-based approaches to treatment enable healthcare and social workers to develop a personal treatment plan to respond to the specific needs of the patient.¹³² The UNODC has issued a Guidance Document for Southeast Asian countries that outlines the key features and principles of community-based treatment,¹³³ which include:

- Participation of people who are affected by drug use and dependence, families and the community-at-large in planning and delivery of the treatment services
- Comprehensive approach, taking into account different needs including health, family, education, employment, and housing
- Informed and voluntary participation with respect for human rights and dignity, including client confidentiality
- Acceptance that relapse is part of the treatment process and will not stop an individual from re-accessing treatment
- Delivery of services in the community, that is, as close as possible to where clients live
- Close collaboration between civil society, law enforcement and the health sector.

Engaging health and community workers in promoting voluntary access to services

Portugal (see **Box 5 in section 2.3.1**) and Switzerland (see below) provide examples of good practice in how to engage health and community workers in a decriminalised environment. Policy makers should view the positive outcomes of the Portuguese and Swiss models of decriminalisation in light of the significant investments in public health initiatives that were made in conjunction with decriminalisation, including funding of outreach, treatment and harm reduction services and building the capacity of healthcare workers.

Switzerland¹³⁴

Switzerland's policy response to drugs combines partial decriminalisation with investment in health and harm reduction services. Possession of small amounts of cannabis has been decriminalised. Possession and use of other drugs may still attract a criminal penalty; however, where small quantities are involved, a person usually receives a waiver of prosecution, a waiver of sentence or a warning.¹³⁵

Healthcare and social workers are funded to intervene in public order incidents prior to police involvement. For example in the city of Zurich, the government established a partnership approach between public security and public health partners called 'Security, Intervention, Prevention'. This involves outreach social services working in close cooperation with the police with shared information systems. Daily meetings are held between the police, social service and healthcare workers. Outreach workers are able to mediate public order issues by approaching people who use drugs respectfully and without stigma, with the intention of providing help before the police intervene. In this way, health and social workers can play a role in reducing contact of people who use drugs with the criminal justice system. If people who use drugs are held in custody, they can access comprehensive health services inside police lock-ups (remand centres). There are voluntary drug and alcohol treatment and welfare services in the community. Drug dependence treatment is covered under health insurance schemes.

Switzerland has also invested heavily in harm reduction services including OST, NSPs and drug consumption rooms. The country pioneered a new model of heroin-assisted therapy in which long-term users of opioids who have failed on traditional OST programmes using methadone or buprenorphine are prescribed pharmaceutical heroin, which is injected under medical supervision. The programme has reduced the risk of overdose, as well as the involvement of people who use drugs in low-level dealing. The success of this approach has led to similar programmes being launched in other countries including Canada, Germany, the Netherlands, Spain and the UK.¹³⁷

The Swiss system has resulted in an elimination of drug injecting in public areas, an improvement in public safety, and improved health outcomes for people who use drugs including a reduction in heroin use, the transmission of blood-borne diseases and overdose deaths.¹³⁸

Chapter 3 Mechanisms to divert people away from the criminal justice system

3.1 Overview of diversion

Diversion programmes provide mechanisms to divert people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system (i.e. upon arrest, prosecution, conviction or incarceration) and, where appropriate, towards treatment, harm reduction, counselling and other services. Diversion programmes can operate for a range of offences including drug use and possession, possession of drug use equipment and non-violent offences related to drug use, such as theft and low-level smuggling and dealing.

Diversion programmes have immediate health and welfare benefits for the people who use drugs who participate in the programmes, while also helping to reduce pressure on the prison system and the courts. Diversion programmes can enhance human security by enabling criminal justice and law enforcement resources to focus on serious crimes that threaten public security, instead of minor drug-related offences and people who use drugs.

Diversion programmes should be implemented in moving towards health-based responses to drug use.

They can be implemented in contexts where drug use remains criminalised in order to reduce the health and social harms, as well as the economic costs, associated with criminalisation. They can also be implemented in contexts where drug use has been decriminalised. In fact, comprehensive, non-punitive diversion programmes play a key role in many of the decriminalisation models implemented in other regions of the world.

Many countries that have implemented *de facto* decriminalisation rely on police diversion programmes as a component of the model, particularly given the key role that police play in ensuring that laws that technically remain in place are not enforced. Diversion programmes can also play an important role in countries that have taken the further step of removing penalties for these offences from the criminal law (*de jure* decriminalisation). In these countries, diversion programmes can be provided for crimes such as theft, low-level smuggling and dealing where the offence is driven by the person's drug use or dependence.

3.2 UN standards and norms on diversion

Box 7 The United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Non-Custodial Measures (The Tokyo Rules)¹³⁹

The Tokyo Rules provide police, prosecutors and courts with an internationally agreed framework for implementing non-custodial alternatives, consistent with the UN drug conventions. Key provisions include:

- The criminal justice system should provide a wide range of non-custodial measures, taking into account the observance of human rights, the requirements of social justice and the rehabilitation needs of the offender.
- Consideration shall be given to dealing with offenders in the community, avoiding as far as possible resort to formal proceedings or trial by a court.
- Non-custodial measures should be used in accordance with the principle of minimum intervention. Non-custodial measures shall not involve undue risk of physical or mental injury to the offender and the dignity of the offender shall be protected at all times.
- Police and prosecutors should be empowered to discharge an offender pre-trial or impose non-custodial measures in minor cases.
- Pre-trial detention shall be used as a means of last resort and shall be administered humanely and with respect for the inherent dignity of human beings.
- The Rules encourage the use of non-custodial sentencing options including verbal sanctions, such as admonition, reprimand and warning; conditional discharge; suspended or deferred sentence; community service orders or referral to non-institutional treatment.
- Drug treatment should only be conducted by professionals with suitable training and practical experience. Failure of a non-custodial measure, such as a drug treatment programme, should not automatically lead to incarceration. Instead, other suitable alternatives to imprisonment should be sought.

The UN drug control conventions include provisions permitting member states to implement alternatives to conviction or punishment for drug use, and associated offences of possession and cultivation, such as referrals to treatment and education. At the sub-regional level, the South Asia Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC) has adopted the same flexibilities in its regional agreement on drugs. 141 To give effect to these provisions,

the UNODC promotes diversion from the criminal justice system through the use of alternatives to formal judicial proceedings, detention and punishment for cases of a minor nature, consistent with the *United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for Non-Custodial Measures* (see **Box 7**).¹⁴²

Evidence suggests that for people found to be dependent on drugs, referral to health and social services can help break the cycle of dependence, reoffending and imprisonment (including pre-trial detention).¹⁴³ Systems to divert minor drug offenders who are dependent on drugs towards evidence-based drug dependence treatment and reintegration services can also reduce pressure on prisons, incidence of crime, and relapse rates. Where referrals to harm reduction and health services are available, diversion programmes can also lead to reductions in the transmission of blood-borne viruses such as HIV and hepatitis.

Diversion programmes are most effective when they:

- Are tailored to the specific needs of different sub-populations, including programmes for women (see Box 8) and young people¹⁴⁴
- Use eligibility criteria and programme requirements to target the level and type of intervention according to the nature of an individual's drug use or dependence, and the severity of drug-related offending, and

Box 8 The Bangkok Rules: promoting non-custodial and diversionary measures for women¹⁴⁵

The United Nations Rules for the Treatment of Women Prisoners and Non-Custodial Measures for Women Offenders ('the Bangkok Rules') complement the Tokyo Rules and call on UN member states to establish gender-specific alternatives to pre-trial detention and imprisonment, including provision of the following:

- options for diversion measures and pre-trial alternatives to detention, taking account of the history of victimisation of many women offenders, as well as their background, caretaking responsibilities, and family ties.
- alternatives for women that combine non-custodial measures with interventions to address the most common problems leading to women's contact with the criminal justice system, including women-specific drug treatment programmes that offer childcare services.
- drug treatment services accessible to women that are women-only, gender-sensitive and trauma-informed, and do not involve detention, through diversion or alternative sentencing measures. The provision of such services can also serve as a crime prevention measure.

 Refer to treatment, education and counselling that is evidence based, humane and flexible, thereby providing less punitive and more effective options for improved health and social reintegration outcomes than prison.

To enhance effectiveness, countries should establish a broad range of diversion programmes at different stages

of the criminal justice process, as outlined in the following sections, including:

- · diversion by police
- · diversion by prosecutors, and
- diversion by judges at pre- and post-sentencing.

3.3 Diversion by police

Police diversion can occur either pre-arrest or at the post-arrest/pre-court stage. Police diversion is often preferable to diversion at a later stage as it avoids the imposition of formal criminal charges and pre-trial detention. The traditional role of the police is to ensure that offenders are arrested and brought before the courts to face conviction and sentencing. In such diversion schemes, police are given the role of referring people away from the criminal justice system and/or towards health and social services. In some schemes, the police have discretion to issue cautions whereby offenders are given a verbal warning with no further penalty, and in some countries the police can issue on-the-spot fines, similar to issuing a traffic violation (e.g. the Czech Republic, Switzerland and some Australian states).

Police diversion may present some challenges. For example, as the police usually regard the enforcement of criminal law as their primary role, diversion programmes may be considered counter to the dominant organisational culture. Police may also be resistant to implementing health-oriented diversion programmes if they view drug use as the result of 'individual weakness' or 'moral failing', rather than as a complex health and social issue. There may also be a high degree of distrust of the police by people who use drugs due to prior experience of police abuse and corruption.¹⁴⁶

Another risk of giving police a central role in diversion is 'net-widening', whereby increased police powers and low threshold quantities result in more people who use drugs in contact with the criminal justice system rather than less (for example, this has been observed in some parts of Australia).¹⁴⁷

As a result, in designing and implementing police diversion schemes, policy makers should consider police trainings and other capacity-building efforts on drug use, harm reduction and drug dependence treatment, as well as the promotion of the programme to people who use drugs and associated communities. Engaging representatives of people who use (or previously used) drugs in the process of designing, managing and evaluating police diversion can help build trust between communities and police. Engaging police officials from jurisdictions with experience in implementing diversion programmes may also be helpful. On this basis, countries should consider introducing police diversion schemes with the following features:

- If drug use continues to be a criminal offence, focus on people found in possession of minor amounts of drugs or drug use equipment
- If drug use is decriminalised, then police diversion schemes should focus on people dependent on drugs who commit minor, non-violent offences such schemes could also operate in jurisdictions that have not decriminalised drug use
- · Include an option for police to take no further action, or

- to simply issue a caution to a person for drug use, possession of drug use equipment, or possession or cultivation for personal use
- Diversion may involve referrals for medical assessment by trained medical staff and, where the person is drug dependent, evidence-based treatment undertaken by accredited treatment agencies. Failure to complete a treatment programme, or relapse in drug use, should not result in a criminal sanction
- Diversion mechanisms should adopt clearly defined eligibility criteria. Police diversion schemes may exclude people who have been charged with a violent crime or more serious drug offences
- Admitting culpability for an offence should not be a requirement to enter a police diversion scheme.148 This requirement may deter people from admitting their drug dependence, therefore preventing referrals to health and education services.

Examples of good practice in police diversion

Australia

Each Australian state and territory has developed different police diversion schemes. Some operate under a *de facto* decriminalisation approach, while others operate in contexts where criminal sanctions have been abolished and replaced by administrative sanctions. The police can exercise discretion to divert people who use drugs to counselling, education and health services. In some states, administrative penalty schemes allow the police to issue on-the-spot fines for minor drug offences (e.g. for possession of cannabis in South Australia).

The Police Drug Diversion Program in the Australian state of Tasmania applies to people found in possession of any illicit drug. 149 Different procedures apply for diverting offenders away from the criminal justice system depending on the type of drugs involved. In the case of cannabis, offenders found with up to 50 grams of cannabis are cautioned instead of charged. They may be cautioned three times in ten years. Information and referral to counselling are provided on the first and second caution. On the third caution, the offender is referred to the Alcohol and Drug Service for a health assessment and brief intervention or treatment. Further offences may result in a criminal conviction.

USA

Several cities have introduced police diversion for low-level, non-violent drug offenders. For example, in the city of Seattle, an innovative police diversion model is implemented through a programme called Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD),¹⁵⁰ targeting people involved in minor drug offences (such as low-level dealing and possession) or sex work. Police divert them to community-based services, with diversion occurring at the point of arrest. Case managers conduct an assessment that considers substance use

Box 9 The Law Enforcement and HIV Network (LEAHN)

LEAHN promotes the effective engagement of law enforcement personnel – especially police – in national HIV responses, through peer support, professional development, advocacy and networking.

LEAHN manages a network of Country Focal Points (CFPs) – serving or retired police officers who take on the task of educating law enforcement peers about HIV and harm reduction approaches to policing key affected populations. CFPs also promote joint activities between police and vulnerable communities. Over 20 CFPs are involved in Bangladesh, India, Indonesia, Nepal, Thailand and Vietnam. The full list of CFPs is available at www.leahn.org.

LEAHN also facilitates improved working relationships between law enforcement and civil society organisations implementing HIV-related activities. LEAHN and its CFPs can act as a bridge between community and law enforcement representatives and support formal and informal partnerships towards effective public health and public security responses.

frequency and the person's needs in relation to treatment and harm reduction services, mental health problems, and personal relationships. Participants also receive social support to connect them with services such as legal aid, job training and/or placement, housing assistance, and counselling. Success in the LEAD programme is not judged by negative urine tests or even abstinence from drugs, but by progress made in improving the participants' overall quality of life, which is assessed by social and health workers. It is important to note that a person can re-enter the programme if they are caught again for a similar offence by the police. An evaluation of the programme showed that people who were diverted to these services were 58% less likely to be arrested for a future offence than those who were not diverted. ¹⁵¹

Police collaboration in support of harm reduction: examples of good practice in Asia

In some parts of Asia, although drug use remains illegal, the police are encouraged by health authorities to adopt a tolerant and pragmatic approach to allow NSP and OST services to operate and to play an active role in reducing the health harms affecting people who use drugs. As the police come into regular contact with people who use drugs, they can be key players in offering advice and information, facilitating access to harm reduction services, and ensuring rapid responses to overdoses (see **Box 9** on the Law Enforcement and HIV Network). Even in a criminalised environment, the role of the police in supporting harm reduction can include:

 The referral of people to drug dependence treatment programmes, harm reduction programmes and other types of health services, welfare, housing and employment assistance

- The provision of a supportive environment for harm reduction services by not arresting people who use drugs in the vicinity of drop-in centres, NSP or OST sites, or other health services frequented by people who use drugs, such as specialised clinics. It is important that police have a supportive and constructive relationship with initiatives designed to reduce drug harms such as drop-in centres, NSPs, OST, peer educators and outreach workers.¹⁵³
- Avoiding arrests at the scene of a drug overdose therefore encouraging people to ring for medical help without delay or fear of prosecution.

Good practices of police diversion have been developed in several sites in some Asian countries. For example:

- Informal police diversion to harm reduction services is encouraged under **Cambodia**'s Police Community Partnership Initiative (PCPI). A Cambodian NGO (KHANA) and the Ministry of Interior implemented PCPI at HIV'hotspots' in Phnom Penh. Police are encouraged to exercise discretion by referring people who inject drugs to harm reduction services instead of arresting them, provided there is no evidence of drug trafficking. 200 police officers have been trained in harm reduction, along with 150 commune council members, representatives of people who use drugs and other local stakeholders.¹⁵⁴
- In Yuxi city, China, police refer people who use drugs to a community-based treatment centre known as 'Peace No. 1'. Police avoid making arrests for minor drug possession or use in the immediate vicinity of the centre. The goals of this programme are to improve the health of people who use drugs; decrease re-incarceration in compulsory detoxification centres; increase the removal of former drug users from the government surveillance system; strengthen social and familial support for people who use drugs; and improve reintegration of people who use drugs in the community. Peace No. 1 clients have access to comprehensive psychosocial and healthcare services, including methadone. Harm reduction training is provided to police across the district. 155
- In Vietnam, the Center for Supporting Community Development Initiatives supports local authorities to implement voluntary and community-based treatment in Bac Giang province. The voluntary drug treatment model in Bac Giang consists of a voluntary drug treatment centre and five community drug counselling and treatment sites.¹
- In Thailand, an informal truce was negotiated between civil society health service providers and local law enforcement representatives in Narathiwat Province. The truce was the result of a series of capacity building and sensitisation workshops that were facilitated by a supportive senior Thai law enforcement official. Local law enforcement officers agreed to apply greater discretion, often diverting people who use drugs to health services.¹⁵⁷

3.4 Diversion by prosecutors

Prosecutors generally have discretion not to proceed with criminal charges under certain circumstances. These circumstances are usually defined by the criminal law and prosecutorial guidelines. The Tokyo Rules encourage prosecutors to consider alternatives to prosecution: 158

Where appropriate and compatible with the legal system, the police, the prosecution service or other agencies dealing with criminal cases should be empowered to discharge the offender if they consider that it is not necessary to proceed with the case for the protection of society, crime prevention or the promotion of respect for the law and the rights of victims. For the purpose of deciding upon the appropriateness of discharge or determination of proceedings, a set of established criteria shall be developed within each legal system. For minor cases the prosecutor may impose suitable non-custodial measures, as appropriate.

The role of prosecutors differs between legal systems. The civil law and socialist law systems found in many East Asian countries take a different approach to prosecutor roles compared to common law countries (the former British colonies in South Asia and Southeast Asia). Prosecutors may have much less discretion regarding the decision to proceed with a case in civil law and socialist law systems compared to common law countries. However, according to the *Tokyo Rules*, ¹⁵⁹ (see **Box 7 in Section 3.2**) special provisions can be made to exercise discretion in drug cases.

Prosecutors should be encouraged not to prosecute minor drug offences taking into account the availability of alternatives to prosecution, such as a caution, warning or referral to social or health services. Guidelines can be developed to advise prosecutors not to proceed with prosecution for minor drug offences, or to impose conditions on offenders if they decide not to prosecute, e.g. requiring the person to undergo a counselling session and/or drug dependence assessment with a health professional, in order to identify any need for treatment and referral to other health, harm reduction or social services. Guidelines can ensure that prosecutors rely on the assessment of an appropriately trained health professional as to a diagnosis of drug dependence and the need for treatment before a decision is made to refer a person to treatment.

Example of diversion by prosecutors: The case of Cambodia

Under Cambodia's *Law on Drug Control* of 2011, before making a decision to prosecute a person for drug use, the prosecutor may provide guidance to the person to accept treatment if the person is certified by a medical professional as being dependent on drugs. If the person agrees to accept treatment and rehabilitation, the prosecution can be put on hold.¹⁶¹

3.5 Diversion by courts

3.5.1 Overview of court diversion models

A variety of models of court diversion from the criminal justice system have been developed worldwide. Some are implemented by ordinary criminal courts, while others are implemented by specialised courts (referred to in some countries as 'drug courts').

Criminal courts in many Asian countries already have a well-established role in linking drug offenders to treatment and can order drug offenders to attend compulsory treatment including detoxification in clinical settings or 'treatment' and 'rehabilitation' in CCDUs. In some cases, this is considered part of the sentence for the offence, and/or treatment may be provided in a prison or similar correctional setting (e.g. Hong Kong, Indonesia, Taiwan, Republic of Korea). However, this usually occurs through a punitive process of forced treatment by court order under police or government supervision, rather than as part of a supportive and voluntary process designed to promote access of offenders to community-based education, harm reduction, treatment and care options.

In other parts of the world, less punitive systems operate in which courts can divert people to a community-based treatment programme based outside of prison or detention centres. Good practice in delivering drug dependence treatment requires services that are based on scientific evidence of effectiveness, tailored to the needs and preferences of the individual, and that comply with human rights norms and respect for the dignity of the patient (for more information on good practice in the provision of drug dependence treatment, see **section 2.7** on promoting voluntary referrals to health and social services). Good practice in the provision of drug dependence treatment, see **section 2.7** on promoting voluntary referrals to health and social services).

3.5.2 Examples of court diversion in Asia

Many countries (including Afghanistan, India, Bhutan, Indonesia, Malaysia, the Maldives, Thailand and the Philippines) have introduced systems whereby courts can order people arrested for drug use or possession for personal use to attend 'treatment' as an alternative to prison. In some countries, people arrested for drug use or possession are detained in CCDUs, ostensibly for 'treatment' and 'rehabilitation' (as outlined in **section 2.6**), although community-based treatment options are sometimes also available.

Court diversion schemes in Asia face significant implementation challenges, and, due partly to resource and capacity constraints, remain largely punitive in nature. Indeed, most court diversion models in the region do not distinguish between people dependent on drugs and those who do not experience problems with their drug use, leading many people who do not require treatment to be ordered into a CCDU or other type of 'treatment' programme.

The following examples illustrate the variety of punitive and non-punitive approaches to the role of courts in linking

people to treatment and services that already exist in Asia. Effective court diversion models should be non-punitive, evidence-based and fully compliant with public health, harm reduction and human rights principles.

Indonesia: Court diversion to community-based treatment¹⁶⁴

Starting in 2009, courts in Indonesia have been able to order people arrested for drug use to attend treatment facilities in hospitals, CCDUs or community-based programmes as an alternative to prison. Since then, the courts have had the option of seeking advice from medical experts on treatment options for people who use drugs including community-based services. Examples of court diversion to community-based services remain rare, however, due to a range of factors including limited availability of such services and lack of awareness of the judiciary. In practice, therefore, courts have been slow to implement this diversion scheme, and the incarceration rate of people for drug use has increased since the diversion policy was introduced. The quality of community-based services also varies greatly. For example, many religiousbased services only offer strict abstinence programmes and do not implement evidence-based interventions (for further details on Indonesia's diversion policy, see section **3.6.2** on engagement of health, community and legal aid workers).

Malaysia: Voluntary Cure and Care Centres and community supervision and treatment programmes¹⁶⁵

Drug use in Malaysia carries a penalty of up to two years' imprisonment and a fine. The government has made progress in moving away from reliance only on detention centres to a range of options, including community-based treatment centres. In 2010, Malaysia established 'Cure and Care' centres providing drug dependence treatment and harm reduction services. There are three types of centres: Cure and Care Rehabilitation Centres (compulsory detention, equivalent to a CCDU); Cure and Care Centres (voluntary inpatient services); and Cure and Care Service Centres (voluntary outpatient services). Cure and Care Service Centres provide client-centred treatment and support services including OST. Adherence to treatment at the voluntary Cure and Care Service Centres is facilitated by social support.

Since 2010, courts have had the option of ordering adults dependent on drugs to attend the Cure and Care Centres or Service Centres as an alternative to incarceration in prison or a Cure and Care Rehabilitation Centre. As an alternative to prosecution and incarceration, people arrested for drug use for the first time are placed under the supervision of the government's anti-drug agency for two years. In 2015, over 50,000 people were under community supervision. People under community supervision undergo monthly urine tests. After one or two positive urine tests, the courts apply more intensive interventions, including counselling and

peer support. After a third positive urine test, the person may be sent to compulsory detention in a Cure and Care Rehabilitation Centre or for treatment at an OST service. 167

A 2015 study found that the risk of relapse for people sent to compulsory detention was 7.6 times greater than for people receiving voluntary treatment. However, the government continues to show reluctance in fully abandoning models of compulsory detention as a form of treatment or rehabilitation.

India: Immunity for people arrested for drug use who attend drug treatment¹⁶⁹

Under Indian law, people dependent on drugs who express willingness to undertake treatment can claim immunity from prosecution, provided the offence they are charged with is drug use or involves a minor quantity of drugs (e.g. no more than 5 grams of heroin, 25 grams of opium, 2 grams of cocaine or amphetamines). Treatment can take place in a hospital or an institution maintained or recognised by the government or a local authority. Upon completion of treatment, the court may defer the sentence and release the offender on a bond (a requirement that the offender not commit another drug offence for a period of up to three years).

Criminal proceedings may be reinstated if treatment is not completed. This approach has the potential of being a useful mechanism for diversion. However, it is rarely applied in practice and there have been problems with implementation, particularly regarding the lack of clarity about the procedure and its inconsistent application by the courts.¹⁷² In addition, most people are detained in prisons while awaiting and during a court hearing. In practice, therefore, a large number of people remain incarcerated for drug use alone.¹⁷³ Finally, the fact that a person caught for drug use and possession for personal use – whether dependent or not – can ordered to complete treatment is also an inappropriate use of treatment programmes.

Bhutan: Withdrawal of prosecution for people who complete treatment

Bhutan has a provision whereby people who are charged with possession of drugs for personal use may be ordered by a court to report to an approved treatment centre. If the person undertakes and successfully completes treatment without committing any further offence, the court may allow the prosecution to be withdrawn.¹⁷⁴

The Philippines: Order to attend compulsory 'treatment' and 'rehabilitation'

In the Philippines, it is compulsory for courts to refer people dependent on drugs to treatment and rehabilitation in a government centre for six months for their first offence. A Drug Abuse Treatment and Rehabilitation Centre, operated by the Department of Health, has been established in every region. In reality, the capacity of many of these rehabilitation centres to offer evidence-based treatment is very poor. In 2015, the government agreed to pilot community-based drug dependence treatment services, which could provide an alternative to detention in compulsory centres.¹⁷⁵

3.5.3 Specialised drug courts¹⁷⁶

Specialised drug courts were first established in the USA in 1989. Since then, they have been introduced in Australia, Europe, North America and Latin America, and are being considered by some Asian countries.¹⁷⁷ For example, in response to an escalation of heroin use, a specialist drug court was established in the Maldives in 2011 to divert drug offenders to compulsory detoxification, treatment and rehabilitation.¹⁷⁸ In 2014, Vietnam's Deputy Prime Minister instructed the Supreme People's Court to develop a pilot drug court after visiting a drug court in the USA.¹⁷⁹

Although models of drug courts vary greatly, they typically operate through the following process:

- The court approves a treatment plan, developed by a multidisciplinary team
- The court closely monitors progress of the person in following the treatment plan
- A system of reinforcement and reward operates, e.g. reduction of time in the treatment programme for compliance, and sanctions including imprisonment for non-compliance
- People must generally plead guilty as a condition of drug court participation, and if they complete the court-prescribed treatment plan, their prison sentence may be deferred or suspended.

The target group for drug courts varies from country to country, and within countries. In the USA, drug courts tend to target people who use drugs and in possession of small amounts of drugs, including people who are found to be dependent on drugs – although there are problems with court decisions made in the absence of any medical assessment of drug dependence. In Latin America, most drug courts target people who use drugs and those caught in possession of small amounts of drugs. In Australia, some drug courts focus on repeat offenders whose criminal activities may include non-violent, drug-related offences such as theft that are the direct result of long-term drug dependence.

Drug courts have faced a number of criticisms.¹⁸² First, models targeting people charged only for drug use or possession for personal use continue to address drug consumption as a criminal, rather than a health and social, issue.183 Second, the decision on whether an offender is dependent or not – and whether the offender is therefore in need of treatment – is ultimately made by judges, instead of trained medical professionals. Third, in many contexts the creation of drug courts has not been accompanied by the development of evidence-based treatment programmes. The lack of effective treatment available in the programmes that people are ordered to attend by drug courts has unsurprisingly often led to high rates of relapse (see also **section 2.7** on the exceptional, crisis situations which may permit involuntary treatment).¹⁸⁴ Finally, the imposition of criminal punishment for people failing their treatment or relapsing goes against the scientific understanding of drug dependence whereby relapses are a likely occurrence.¹⁸⁵ In countries such as the USA, criminal sanctions imposed

on a person having failed the treatment programme often end up being more severe than if the person had been prosecuted under normal court proceedings.¹⁸⁶

Additional challenges in applying a drug court model in low- and middle-income countries generally include:

- A lack of resources to enable drug courts and judges to case manage each offender
- A lack of resources to support multi-disciplinary teams involved in developing treatment plans and tailoring health and social responses to the needs of each person
- A lack of evidence-based drug dependence treatment, rehabilitation and support services. For example, in 2013 drug offenders assessed by the Maldives Drug Court as eligible for treatment were reportedly temporarily detained in prisons because the country's few detoxification centres were all full and unable to accommodate new patients.¹⁸⁷

Given that the quality of treatment impacts the outcomes of a drug court, countries are encouraged to first invest in ensuring the availability of evidence-based treatment before allocating the significant resources required to institute drug courts. Policy makers should bear in mind that the overall objective of such schemes is to *reduce* the number of people who use drugs sent to prison, and to *improve* health outcomes. Countries considering drug courts in Asia should be mindful of the concerns that have been raised above, and ensure that any mechanism put in place does not result in the application of more punitive measures against people who use drugs.

3.5.4 Good practice in court diversion

Below are some principles supporting good practice for court diversion programmes. These principles apply both to general criminal courts and to specialised drug courts:¹⁸⁸

 Court diversion should not apply for people whose only offence is drug use, possession or cultivation of small quantities for personal use, or possession of drug use equipment – they should be able to access diversion programmes at an earlier stage, i.e. before or immediately after police arrest. Therefore greater investment should be made in establishing police or prosecutor diversion, rather than court diversion

- Diversion decisions should be based on a professional assessment of the health, welfare and support needs of people who use drugs
- The programmes should ensure access to a continuum of evidence-based drug dependence treatment and other health and social services – this should incorporate harm reduction measures such as OST, and not be based solely on abstinence
- Treatment programmes should be tailored to the specific needs of women, young people and minority ethnic groups to ensure positive health outcomes
- Partnerships between the courts and community-based organisations should be established to generate local support and enhance programme effectiveness
- Ongoing case management should include the social support necessary to achieve social reintegration, and a non-judgmental approach to drug use
- If drug testing is being used, it should be a tool to inform treatment responses, not to trigger punishment
- Relapse should be recognised as a normal part of recovery. Failure to complete a treatment programme or the renewed use of drugs should therefore not lead to the imposition of criminal sanctions or punishment.
- Post treatment and aftercare services should enhance the long-term effects of treatment programmes, and rely on a network of health and social support services.

Costa Rica: managing the risks of drug courts

Costa Rica has adapted the drug court model to ensure it does not result in the application of punitive measures for people dependent on drugs. Costa Rica's drug court does not target people caught with small amounts of drugs for personal use, since drug use and possession for personal use are decriminalised. In 2013, the country implemented a Restorative Justice Project that aimed to reduce the overall prison population. A drug court system was established to target low-level, first-time offenders who committed an offence related to their drug dependence. Offenders are referred to an interdisciplinary and specialised group composed of physicians, psychologists and social workers who tailor their response to the needs of the client. Options include referrals to residential or outpatient treatment.¹⁸⁹

3.6 The role of healthcare, legal and community workers in diversion schemes

3.6.1 Principles for engagement of healthcare, legal and community workers

Health, legal and community workers can play an important role in promoting a public health approach to drug use. They can intervene at the community level to refer people who use drugs to health, legal and social support services before they come into police contact (see the example of Switzerland in **section 2.7**). They can provide a holistic health assessment to inform the decision of the police, prosecutors and courts in relation to which diversion response would be most appropriate for people who use drugs, and how to claim and defend those rights (see the example of East Java Action and LBH Masyarakat in Indonesia in **section 3.6.2**, **Box 10**). 190

It is good practice for diversion programmes to include a mechanism through which qualified health professionals are engaged in the assessment of an individual's needs (see the examples of Portugal in **section 2.3.1, Box 5**, and the LEAD programme in the USA in **section 3.3**).

Healthcare workers can assess whether any of the following options are appropriate: detoxification, OST, residential rehabilitation, psychiatric and psychological interventions, counselling, group programmes for relapse prevention, and access to testing, counselling and treatment for HIV, hepatitis, tuberculosis and other diseases. Importantly, health professionals can assess drug dependence and any need for treatment, recognising that only about 10% of people who use drugs experience drug dependence.¹⁹¹ Where drug treatment is required for an individual, health professionals can also advise on referrals to the most suitable treatment service (see **section 2.7** for good practice in providing drug dependence treatment and community-based treatment).

Diversion also provides an opportunity to assess needs in relation to accommodation and housing, welfare entitlements, employment and vocational services, education and training, and family counselling – all of which may benefit from the expertise of health, legal and social workers. In addition, health, legal aid and community workers can engage in long-term partnerships with the police and people working in the justice sector to ensure that the response to drug use is coherent and based on health and human rights imperatives. Healthcare workers may also have a role in coordinating comprehensive aftercare and links to longer-term voluntary treatment services.

Given the critical role of health, legal aid and community workers in ensuring the effectiveness of decriminalisation and diversion responses to drug use, they should be involved in monitoring and evaluating the quality and outcomes of those measures.

3.6.2 The engagement of health care, legal and community workers: Experiences in Asia

Cambodia

Since 2011, Cambodia has provided a legal and policy framework that supports the engagement of healthcare workers in providing harm reduction services (including NSP and OST) and community-based drug treatment services.¹⁹² Voluntary, community-based treatment services have been established that promote a continuum of care and strengthened community mechanisms to provide services and referrals including to harm reduction services. By the end of 2013, over 1,200 people who use drugs were receiving community-based treatment services in Cambodia.¹⁹³ Despite this positive development, however, the compulsory detention of people who use drugs still occurs in Cambodia (including under vagrancy laws and public order powers).¹⁹⁴ There are also ongoing tensions between local law enforcement authorities and health organisations providing services to people who use drugs in Cambodia, particularly NSPs. 195 This indicates the need to ensure that law enforcement officers operating at the local level are fully aware of the nature and purpose of harm reduction programmes, and trained on how to support those measures.

Indonesia¹⁹⁶

In 2014, seven Indonesian government bodies signed a memorandum of understanding confirming that 'habitual drug users' would be referred to rehabilitation centres rather than prison. Officials from the National Narcotics Agency, the Health Ministry, the Supreme Court, the Attorney General's Office, the National Police and the Social Affairs Ministry signed the document. The agreement provides for joint assessment teams of medical and legal personnel at national, provincial and municipal levels to determine whether a suspect is a drug dealer or a user and to propose treatment options to a judge hearing a drug prosecution. However, evidence indicates that the system is not operating well in practice, and is plagued by corruption. As a result, people who cannot pay bribes continue to end up in prison even if they are eligible for diversion to treatment.197

Nevertheless, Indonesia's National AIDS Commission is making progress in implementing its national Community-Based Drug Dependence Treatment (CBDDT) programme. In 2015, the programme was being implemented in 20 facilities operated by community-based organisations in 15 cities and reached over 2,100 clients. This programme uses indicators of success that focus on improved quality of life and a reduction of risks through a harm reduction approach. The CBBDT comprises a two-month, individualised inpatient programme followed by an outpatient programme of four months. Implementing organisations are required to adhere to national guidelines that define a minimum standard of drug dependence treatment. A

Box 10 Providing legal assistance to people who use drugs: The LBH Masyarakat example

LBH Masyarakat provides free legal services for people who use drugs, and empowers people who use drugs to provide community legal assistance, including as trained paralegals.1 LBH Masyarakat works closely with paralegal workers and the communities or family members of people who use drugs to gather witnesses, prepare legal defence arguments, and collect supporting evidence including psychiatric or medical assessments that show a history of dependence and treatment needs. Their legal assistance includes representation in support of a client's diversion at any stage from police investigation to the court hearing. Although police are permitted to divert a case away from prosecution under existing regulations, they are often not willing to divert people who use drugs towards treatment options (which they are also authorised to do since drug use remains criminalised under the drug law). Judges are also able to exercise their discretion in favour of diversion, including upon receiving expert witness testimony and other supporting evidence.

range of services complement the CBDDT approach via referral mechanisms, including harm reduction services, peer support and mental health services. PKNI, Indonesia's national network of people who use drugs, provides community-led monitoring of the programme.

Some civil society organisations, including East Java Action and LBH Masyarakat (see **Box 10**), offer legal assistance to people who use drugs to ensure the access of people who use drugs to these diversion programmes.

Thailand

Under Thailand's drug laws, a committee made up of psychologists, psychiatrists, community health workers and community leaders reviews each case to inform the court on whether a person charged with consumption and possession for personal use should be diverted away from prison to treatment.²⁰⁰ The options available to the committee include referral of the person to compulsory four-months detention in a CCDU; releasing the person to undertake supervised outpatient cognitive behavioural therapy; releasing the person with no further action; or referral to a criminal court for sentencing, which involves a potential prison sentence. The committee assesses whether the accused is a user or is drug dependent: those deemed to be dependent are detained in CCDUs. Failure to abstain during or after treatment can result in prosecution and imprisonment.

While the law ostensibly provides a framework for addressing health needs, the system has been criticised as failing to provide access to evidence-based treatment. In Thailand, the determination of whether an individual is dependent on drugs is usually made on the basis of urine test results alone, without assessing levels of drug use, dependence or related risk behaviours, for example by using the Addiction Severity Index.²⁰¹ There is no requirement for the committee to meet the person being assessed, which would enable the person's needs and views to be taken into account in developing treatment plans.²⁰²

Another concern with the procedure is that offenders may be held in pre-trial detention with no access to treatment for six weeks or longer awaiting a decision of the committee. Many detainees, who by law are considered as 'patients', therefore continue to be treated as criminals as they may be subject to incarceration in either prison or a CCDU. As OST is not available in CCDUs, the 'treatment' provided is restricted to group work, work therapy, vocational training and physical education, with no input from the patient about their treatment programme. All patients participate in the same programme. There is little evidence that this approach has been effective in improving health.

Chapter 4 Conclusions and recommendations: Principles and priorities

Guiding principles

Governments should commit to legal and policy responses to drugs that are based on evidence and comply with the principles of harm reduction, human rights and social inclusion.

National policy and planning frameworks

Governments should abandon the pursuit of achieving a 'drug-free society' as a policy priority. National drug policies should instead focus on enhancing public health, reducing the social and economic harms associated with drug markets and drug use, improving the protection of human rights, and supporting the social inclusion of vulnerable and marginalised communities of people who use drugs. Planning for the development and implementation of decriminalisation and diversion programmes needs to be based on data and evidence (e.g. the effects of criminalisation and punishment on the health and quality of life of people who use drugs), and directly involve affected communities, particularly people who use drugs, to ensure the effectiveness of those measures.

National priorities should include:

- **Decriminalisation**: Conduct comprehensive legal and policy reviews, based on data, evidence and consultations involving local communities, experts and people who use drugs, to inform national plans that map each country's path towards the removal of criminal penalties and other punishment for drug use, possession of drug use equipment, and possession and cultivation of drugs for personal use. Each country needs to take into account a range of factors including the role and capacity of police, prosecutors, courts and healthcare workers to engage effectively in the decriminalisation model.
- Diversion: Develop and introduce programmes through which the police, prosecutors and/or courts divert people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system, and, if required, towards harm reduction, health and social service options. In a decriminalised environment, these diversion schemes should focus on people whose offences are related to their drug dependence.
- Health and harm reduction services: Establish, expand and strengthen harm reduction services and voluntary, community-based drug treatment services, to ensure improved outcomes for health, human rights and social inclusion.

Compulsory registration and detention centres

In line with UN recommendations, governments should immediately close down CCDUs, promote access to voluntary community-based treatment, harm reduction and social services, and remove compulsory requirements for registration of people who use drugs with law enforcement agencies.²⁰⁵

Threshold quantities

Threshold quantities can be helpful where they are part of

a broader package of health-oriented reforms, and used to decriminalise possession of small quantities of drugs for personal use and/or to guide police, prosecutors and/or judges in diverting people who use drugs away from the criminal justice system. If a country decides to use quantity thresholds, the following factors should be considered:

- The quantity specified should be realistic and based on evidence regarding patterns of use (e.g. the quantity of drugs that a person is likely to possess for consumption purposes) and patterns of purchasing (quantity of drugs that a user is likely to purchase for personal use, e.g. supply for a reasonable number of days)
- Where threshold quantities are prescribed, these should only be considered as indicative. Police, prosecutors and judges should retain the discretion to decide on a case-by-case basis according to all available evidence whether a case based on possession of drugs should proceed or be dismissed
- The determination of possession for the purposes of supply should be made on the basis of multiple factors, including the role and motivation of the accused in the supply transaction, and subject to judicial oversight.
 Such measures help ensure that people who use drugs are not mistakenly sentenced for a drug supply offence.

Promotion of evidence-based treatment and harm reduction services

Treatment services for drug dependence should be voluntary, evidence-based and required to comply with international standards on drug dependence treatment. In particular, services should recognise that no single treatment method is suitable for all individuals dependent on drugs. Rather, a comprehensive array of services should be offered to respond to the complex health and social issues associated with drug dependence. Matching treatment settings, interventions and services to each individual's particular needs is critical to treatment success, that is, improved quality of life.

Positive urine tests should not be used or accepted as evidence of drug dependence. In diversion mechanisms, police, prosecutors and/or judges should be required to base their decisions on a medical assessment that establishes drug dependence based on internationally agreed criteria.

Governments should adopt and scale up harm reduction interventions and ensure that their access is not conditional on the registration of people who use drugs in registries accessible by law enforcement agencies. Harm reduction interventions such as OST and NSPs should be provided both in the community and in prisons and other closed settings, and not hampered by law enforcement practices such as arrest.

Diversion by the police

Police diversion may be effective in contexts where police are able to build trust with communities of people who use drugs. If police corruption is entrenched, it may be inappropriate to give police the key decision making role in the diversion process. Police diversion programmes should include the following features:

- Police diversion may include a decision to take no further action, issue a caution and/or to provide referral to health and harm reduction services
- Where people are found in possession of small amounts of drugs or drug use equipment, diversion should occur before a charge is entered
- The programme should involve an educational component. This may include provision of information by a police officer on harm reduction or referral to health, drug treatment, harm reduction or community support services
- Arrest quotas for drug use, possession of drug use equipment, and possession and cultivation for personal use should be abolished.

Diversion by the prosecutor

Prosecutorial guidelines should require prosecutors to consider not proceeding with a prosecution for drug use, possession or cultivation for personal use and possession of drug use equipment, and for minor, non-violent offences relating to a person's drug use or dependence. For such offences, prosecutors should be able to decide either that:

- the prosecution will not proceed and no further action will be taken, or
- the prosecution will not proceed conditional upon an offender attending a harm reduction service, a treatment programme (if required) or other social services.

Prosecutorial guidelines should ensure that prosecutors base their decisions on an understanding of the distinction between occasional drug use and drug dependence – only those who are dependent on drugs could benefit from a referral to treatment.

Diversion by the court

Courts should have the option to impose no penalty and not to enter a conviction for drug use, possession or cultivation for personal use and possession of drug use equipment, and for minor, non-violent offences relating to a person's drug use or dependence (e.g. theft, low-level smuggling or dealing). Where court diversion programmes operate, they should supplement police and prosecutors' diversion schemes. Courts should be able to offer diversion options to people who use drugs arrested for more serious drug-related offences, rather than merely for drug use. It is preferable for people facing a potential charge of drug use or possession of small quantities for personal use to be diverted at police or prosecutor stage, rather than by the court.

Sentencing guidelines should support use of noncustodial sentences for people convicted of drug offences or drug-related offences. This may include treatment in the community for those found to be dependent on drugs through a medical assessment.

Courts should have access to multidisciplinary advice for assessment of options. It is critically important that the process enables courts to distinguish between (i) people who use drugs occasionally, recreationally and/or without experiencing problems, and (ii) people who are drug dependent and could benefit from access to treatment. Courts should offer:

- pre- and post-sentencing referrals to voluntary, community-based treatment, harm reduction and social service options
- individualised treatment, harm reduction and social support options.

Legal aid and access to justice

People who use drugs should have access to independent legal advice and representation as an integral aspect of any diversion programme to ensure that they are informed of their legal rights, and able to defend their case at all stages of the process.

Role of healthcare workers

Healthcare and community workers can support the implementation of decriminalisation and diversion programmes by:

- intervening at the community level to refer people who use drugs to support in advance of police contact
- providing health assessments to inform the decision of police, prosecutors and the courts in relation to diversion
- providing a holistic assessment and response to the needs of people who use drugs diverted away from the criminal justice system
- engaging in partnerships with communities, police and other people working in the justice sector to promote harm reduction and public health approaches
- adopting minimum quality standards to ensure that drug dependence treatment programmes are evidence based and respect the human rights of people who use drugs
- monitoring and evaluating the quality and effectiveness of decriminalisation and diversion models.

The process of decriminalising drug use and/or implementing diversion measures involves the consideration of several factors, including the need to garner public support. For suggestions on practical steps to take in preparing for the implementation of such measures, please refer to **Annex 2**.

Annexes

Annex 1 Decriminalisation and diversion programmes under the UN drug conventions

The three UN conventions on drug control are:

- The Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs (1961) as amended by the 1972 Protocol;
- the Convention on Psychotropic Substances (1971); and
- the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances (1988).

The purpose of these conventions is to establish international control measures with the aim of ensuring that drugs are available for medical and scientific purposes, while preventing them from being diverted into illegal channels. The treaties also include general provisions on the trafficking and use of drugs.

Historical context²⁰⁶

Prior to the drug conventions, several Asian countries participated in the global opium and cocaine industries, supplying pharmaceutical companies in the West and Japan. In the negotiations for the 1961 Convention, several of these countries played a lead role in what was known as the 'organic states' group. As producers of the organic raw materials for most of the global drug supply, Asian countries had been the focus of international drug control efforts. They were also countries with a long history of drug use within local cultures, with drugs such as cannabis having religious significance and cannabis and opium being used across the region in traditional medicine.

India, Turkey, Pakistan and Burma took a leading role in the 'organic states' group, which also included the coca-producing states of Indonesia and the opium- and cannabis-producing countries of South and Southeast Asia. They supported national control efforts based on local conditions and were wary of strong international control bodies. They resisted the strengthening of international control because existing restrictions on production and export had directly affected their domestic population and industry. Although relatively powerless against the prohibitionist countries, such as the USA, they sought development aid to compensate for losses caused by the introduction of strict controls.

Drug use and possession for personal use under the UN drug conventions²⁰⁷

The fundamental objective of the conventions, as stated in their preambles, is to protect the 'health and welfare' of humanity.

Drug use was omitted from the articles of the UN drug conventions listing the drug-related acts that must be declared a criminal offence. The UN conventions do not oblige countries to impose any penalty (criminal or administrative) for drug use as such. This is explicitly stated in the Commentary to the 1988 Convention regarding article 3 of the Convention on 'Offences and Sanctions': 'It will be noted that, as with the 1961 and 1971 Conventions, paragraph 2 does not require drug consumption as such to be established as a punishable offence'. ²⁰⁸

The conventions also grant States flexibility with respect to criminalisation of possession for personal use, although the provisions are more restrictive than in relation drug consumption or use.²⁰⁹ The criminalisation of drug possession is referred to in the 1988 UN Convention, which states:²¹⁰

Subject to its constitutional principles and the basic concepts of its legal system, each Party shall adopt such measures as may be necessary to establish as a criminal offence under its domestic law, when committed intentionally, the possession, purchase or cultivation of narcotic drugs or psychotropic substances for personal consumption contrary to the provisions of the 1961 Convention, the 1961 Convention as amended or the 1971 Convention.

This article allows governments some discretion on whether or not to criminalise possession for personal use.

Firstly, the Article states that the measures a member state is required to adopt are subject to its 'constitutional principles and the basic concepts of its legal system'. This means that member states can opt out of the requirement to criminalise possession for personal consumption if it would be unconstitutional (for example, based on the right to privacy or liberty under the national constitution) or otherwise contrary to their legal systems. ²¹²

Secondly, under this article, member states are only required to adopt measures for criminalising possession of drugs for personal use where possession is contrary to the 1961 or 1971 Conventions. In articles 36(1)(a) and 2(5) (b), the 1961 Convention can be understood to require the criminalisation of the use of drugs, such as cannabis and heroin, only if it is considered by a state to be appropriate on public health grounds.

Article 33 of the 1961 Convention provides that 'The Parties shall not permit the possession of drugs except under legal authority' and solely for medical and scientific purposes. Further, article 36(1) obliges the parties to declare possession a punishable offence. However, the Convention's emphasis on tackling trafficking suggests that countries are not obliged by virtue of article 36 to declare simple possession for personal use a criminal offence, particularly if there are strong public health grounds not to do so. This opinion is backed up by the history of the wording of article 36, which was originally entitled 'Measures against illicit traffickers'. A similar situation applies in the 1971 Convention.²¹³

Furthermore, and more fundamentally, the drug control conventions must be interpreted in relation to the specific challenges and measures in place in each country, as well as in the context of member states' overriding human rights obligations under international law.²¹⁴ The purpose of the UN, as set out in the UN Charter, includes the promotion of solutions for international social and health problems, as well as universal respect for human rights. Governments have obligations under the right to health to take all necessary steps for the prevention, treatment and control of diseases, to ensure access to essential medicines, to take affirmative steps to promote health and to refrain from conduct that limits people's abilities to safeguard their health.²¹⁵

Under international law, restrictions on human rights may be imposed if they are prescribed by law, non-discriminatory and impose restrictions that are no more than is necessary to achieve a legitimate aim. The state therefore has the burden to justify that the criminalisation of drug use or possession and cultivation of drugs for personal use meets this test.²¹⁶ Protecting public health is a legitimate aim, but imposing criminal sanctions for drug use and possession for personal use has exacerbated the health and social harms associated with drug use, and is neither necessary nor proportionate - arrest and incarceration are disproportionate measures and can affect access to fundamental rights to health, work, education, housing, vote and separate parents from children. States can use non-criminal, public health measures to address drug dependence and drug use, including providing voluntary access to evidence-based drug treatment, harm reduction services, and social support.²¹⁷

Alternatives to conviction and punishment

Article 3(4)(d) of the 1988 Convention provides:

The Parties may provide, either as an alternative to conviction or punishment, or in addition to conviction or punishment of an offence established in accordance with paragraph 2 of this article, measures for the treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation or social reintegration of the offender.

UN member states adopted a *Declaration on Drug Demand Reduction* in 1999 following discussions at the UN General Assembly Special Session on drugs in 1998, which includes this provision:

In order to promote the social reintegration of drug-abusing offenders, where appropriate and consistent with the national laws and policies of Member States, governments should consider providing, either as an alternative to conviction or punishment or in addition to punishment, that abusers of drugs should undergo treatment, education, aftercare, rehabilitation and social reintegration.²¹⁸

A 2012 resolution adopted by the UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs noted the language on alternatives to criminal sanctions in the UN drug conventions, and encouraged member states '...to consider allowing the full implementation of drug-dependence treatment and care options for offenders, in particular, when appropriate, providing treatment as an alternative to incarceration...' The Commission further adopted a resolution in 2015 calling on member states:

through collaboration between the health and justice authorities, to use a wide range of alternative measures to conviction or punishment for appropriate drug-related offences of a minor nature in order to improve public health and safety for individuals, families and societies.²¹⁹

Annex 2 Practical steps for implementing decriminalisation and diversion

- Secure support from across government agencies for decriminalisation and diversion proposals including from agencies with responsibility for drug control, health, law and justice, prisons and public security, and from national human rights bodies.
- 2. Engage local communities and civil society:
 - Engage communities of people who use drugs and civil society groups in the law reform and policy development process. Ensure that people who use drugs have an opportunity to provide their views on law and policy options, and have access to information and education about how proposed changes to laws, policies and practices will affect their lives.
 - Seek support for law and policy reforms to remove criminal sanctions from professional associations in the areas of medicine, public health, law and corrections.
 - Secure support for law and policy reforms from religious, traditional and community leaders on the basis that the shift to a public health approach to drug use is an issue requiring courage and leadership.
 - Engage the general public in an informed discussion.
 It may be necessary to conduct community education campaigns to address irrational fears and to reassure the public that decriminalisation does not present a threat to youth, community safety or public security. Community education can reduce the demonisation of people who use drugs and the stigma associated with drug use. Engaging the media to secure public support may be crucial to ensure that legislative proposals do not lead to a backlash that results in counter-proposals that increase criminal penalties and undermine public health objectives.
- 3. Consider whether *de facto* decriminalisation can be introduced through changes to policy and police practices in advance of legislation to remove criminal sanctions. Explore whether a phased approach to decriminalisation may have a greater chance of success than a proposal to immediately remove all criminal sanctions. For example, the decriminalisation of cannabis or kratom could be piloted as a *de facto* approach before introducing legislation to remove criminal sanctions for use, or possession for personal use, of cannabis and other drugs.
- 4. Generate consensus on the *objectives* and *scope* of decriminalisation and diversion schemes:
 - Ensure that the objectives of decriminalisation and diversion schemes are clearly focused on reducing harms and improving public health, social inclusion and human rights outcomes, while reducing the punishment and incarceration of people who use drugs.

- Establish forums for consultation and dialogue involving government, civil society and community stakeholders to garner support for a comprehensive approach that encompasses removal of criminal penalties and other sanctions for: drug use, possession of drugs for personal use, possession of drug use equipment and cultivation of drugs for the purpose of personal consumption. As part of those forums, facilitate dialogue on the implementation of a 'gold standard' model of decriminalisation in which the law is amended so that no criminal, civil or administrative sanctions whatsoever apply, but instead investments are made to ensure the availability and accessibility of voluntary drug treatment, harm reduction, and social services.
- If administrative sanctions are applied as an alternative to criminal sanctions, ensure these are minor and do not include detention in CCDUs, compulsory registration and monitoring, forced urine testing, or other measures that contradict principles of human rights, harm reduction and public health.
- In relation to possession of drugs for personal use, consider whether quantity thresholds are to be used, and if so, how they will be determined. Thresholds should be realistic and based on research conducted locally that provides evidence of the average quantities consumed and purchased by people who use drugs.
- Make it clear that the proposal is focused on removing criminal sanctions that apply to people who use drugs, and does not focus on the legalisation of illicit drug production and distribution for commercial purposes.
- Consider budgetary implications, particularly to ensure adequate funding is available for diversion programmes, community-based treatment, health and harm reduction services, counselling and social services for people who use drugs.
- 6. Identify the upcoming opportunities in the parliament or national assembly to amend legislation to remove criminal and/or administrative sanctions. Parliamentary champions may need to be identified to educate other legislators about law reform proposals and to push for bills to be considered without undue delay.
- Invest in training and capacity building for law enforcement personnel and healthcare workers so that their roles and responsibilities in decriminalisation and diversion schemes are well understood and delineated.

Endnotes

- Bewley-Taylor, D. & Jelsma, M. (2012), The UN drug control conventions: The limits of latitude (International Drug Policy Consortium & Transnational Institute), http://idpc.net/publications/2012/03/undrug-control-conventions-the-limits-of-latitude; United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013), UNODC Handbook on strategies to reduce overcrowding in prisons, pp. 44-47, https://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/Overcrowding_in_prisons_Ebook.pdf
- For further discussion and analysis of diversion measures, see: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2006), Criminal justice assessment toolkit, http://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/cjat_eng/CJAT_Toolkit_full_version.pdf
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime & World Health Organisation (WHO) (2008), Discussion paper - Principles of drug dependence treatment, http://www.unodc.org/documents/drug-treatment/UNODC-WHO-Principles-of-Drug-Dependence-Treatment-March08.pdf
- UNODC defines 'problem drug users' as 'those with drug use disorders or dependence': United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013), UNODC World Drug Report, p.1, www.unodc.org/unodc/secured/wdr/wdr2013/World_Drug_Report_2013.pdf
- International Drug Policy Consortium (2014), Advocacy note: Compulsory rehabilitation in Latin America: An unethical, inhumane and ineffective practice, http://idhdp.com/media/1236/idpc-advo-cacy-note-compulsory-rehabilitation-latin-america-english.pdf
- Tanguay, P. et al, (2015) 'Facilitating a transition from compulsory detention of people who use drugs towards voluntary community-based drug dependence treatment and support services in Asia', Harm Reduction Journal, 12:31, http://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-015-0071-0
- 7. See definition by Harm Reduction International: Harm Reduction International (2010), What is harm reduction? A position statement from the International Harm Reduction Association, http://www.ihra.net/what-is-harm-reduction
- See: World Health Organisation, Evidence for action series, policy briefs and technical papers, http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/idu/evidence-for-action/; World Health Organisation, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime & Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2012), WHO, UNODC, UNAIDS Technical Guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users 2012 Revision, http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/idu/en/index.html
- For information regarding legal regulation, please refer to Chapter 3.2 of: International Drug Policy Consortium (2016), IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 3rd Edition, http://idpc.net/publications/2016/03/idpc-drugpolicy-guide-3rd-edition
- Bewley-Taylor, D. & Jelsma, M. (2012), The UN drug control conventions: The limits of latitude (International Drug Policy Consortium & Transnational Institute), http://idpc.net/publications/2012/03/undrug-control-conventions-the-limits-of-latitude; United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013), UNODC Handbook on strategies to reduce overcrowding in prisons, pp. 44-47, https://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/Overcrowding_in_prisons_Ebook.pdf
- United Nations Secretary-General Ban Ki-Moon (26 June 2015), Message on International Day Against Drug Abuse and Illicit Trafficking, UNIS/SGSM/645, http://www.unis.unvienna.org/unis/en/pressrels/2015/unissgsm645.html
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2015) A public health and rights approach to drugs, http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media-asset/JC2803 drugs en.pdf; Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2014), The gap report, http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/en/media/unaids/contentassets/documents/unaidspublication/2014/UNAIDS_Gap_report_en.pdf
- United Nations Development Program (2015), Addressing the development dimensions of drug policy, http://www.undp.org/content/dam/undp/library/HIV-AIDS/Discussion-Paper-Addressing-the-Development-Dimensions-of-Drug-Policy.pdf
- 14. World Health Organisation (2014), Consolidated guidelines on HIV

- prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations, p. 91, http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/keypopulations/en
- United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (September 2015), Study on the impact of the world drug problem on the enjoyment of human rights, A/HRC/30/65, para. 38, http://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/RegularSessions/Session30/Pages/ListReports.aspx
- UN Women (2014), A gender perspective on the impact of drug use, the drug trade, and drug control regimes, https://www.unodc.org/documents/ungass2016//Contributions/UN/Gender_and_Drugs_-UN_Women_Policy_Brief.pdf
- 17. The Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Report to the General Assembly A/65/255, 6 August 2010, http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Water/ContributionsStigma/others/SPhealthl.pdf; Report of the Special Rapporteur on torture A/HRC/10/44, Submission to Committee on Torture 2012, http://daccess-ods.un.org/TMP/8202025.89035034.html
- Rolles, S. (20 October 2015), 'The truth behind the UNODC's leaked decriminalisation paper', Transform Blog, http://www.tdpf.org.uk/blog/truth-behind-unodcs-leaked-decriminalisation-paper
- International Narcotics Control Board (2015), Press release: International Narcotics Control Board concludes its 114th session, https://www.incb.org/incb/en/news/press-releases/2015/press-releas
- 20. Vienna Declaration, official declaration of the XVIII International AIDS Conference (2010), http://www.viennadeclaration.com. The Declaration was initiated by several of the world's leading HIV and drug policy scientific bodies: the International AIDS Society, the International Centre for Science in Drug Policy, and the BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS
- Global Commission on Drug Policy (2014), Taking control: Pathways to drug policies that work, http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/reports
- https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/treaties/single-convention. html
- 23. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/treaties/psychotropics.html
- 24. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/treaties/illicit-trafficking.html
- Commentary on the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988, p. 82, para. 3.94, https://www.unodc.org/documents/treaties/organized_crime/ Drug%20Convention/Commentary_on_the_united_nations_convention_1988_E.pdf
- Statement by INCB President Dr. Lochan Naidoo, 58th Session of the Commission on Narcotic Drugs Special segment on preparations for the special session of the General Assembly on the world drug problem (UNGASS) to be held in 2016, Vienna, 9-17 March 2015, https://www. incb.org/documents/Speeches/Speeches2015/Statement_INCB_ President_CND_2015_UNGASS_06_03_15V_1_cl_INCB_logo.pdf
- 27. Article 3(4)(d), UN Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988
- 28. See chapter 3 for country examples
- Country examples are discussed in chapter 3. See also: Fox, E., Eastwood, N. & Rosmarin, A. (2016), A quiet revolution: Drug decriminalisation policies in practice across the globe, Version 2, http://www.release.org.uk/publications/policy-papers
- Harm Reduction International (2015), The death penalty for drug offences: A global overview, https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/DeathPenaltyDrugs Report 2015.pdf
- Hayashi, K. et al. (2013), 'Reports of police beating and associated harms among people who inject drugs in Bangkok, Thailand: A serial cross-sectional study', BMC Public Health, 13: 733, http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/13/733
- 32. Reid, G. & Crofts, N., 'Historical perspectives on drug use in Southeast Asia'. In: Rahman, F. & Crofts. N. (ed.)(2013), Drug law reform in East and Southeast Asia (London: Wiley-Blackwell), pp. 1-11; Rahman, F. & Crofts. N. (ed.)(2013) Drug law reform in East and Southeast Asia (London: Wiley-Blackwell), pp. 27-38. See also: International Drug Policy Consortium (2015), Throughout Asia, criminalisation and harsh punishment are imposed on people who use drugs (infograph-

- ic), http://idpc.net/alerts/2015/01/throughout-asia-criminalisation-and-hard-punishment-are-imposed-on-people-who-use-drugs
- Brunei: Misuse of Drugs Act, section 29; Malaysia: Dangerous Drugs Act, section 39A; Singapore: Misuse of Drugs Act 1973, sections 8, 33, 33A. See: lakobishvili E. (2011) Judicial corporal punishment for drug and alcohol offences in selected countries (London: Harm Reduction International), http://www.ihra.net/files/2011/11/08/IHRA_CorporalPunishmentReport_Web.pdf
- Brunei: Misuse of Drugs Act 1978, section 7; Philippines: Comprehensive Dangerous Drugs Act of 2002, section 12; Singapore: Misuse of Drugs Act 1973, section 9
- United Nations (2009), Political Declaration and Plan of Action on International Cooperation towards an Integrated and Balanced Strategy to Counter the World Drug Problem (New York: United Nations), https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/commissions/CND/Political_Declarations/Political-Declarations_Index.html
- 36. Joint declaration for a drug-free ASEAN, Adopted by the Foreign Ministers at the 31st ASEAN Ministerial Meeting Manila, 25 July 1998; Joint declaration for a drug-free ASEAN adopted by the 33rd ASEAN Ministerial Meeting held in July 2000, http://cil.nus.edu.sg/rp/pdf/2000%20Bangkok%20Political%20Declaration%20in%20Pursuit%20of%20a%20Drug-Free%20ASEAN%202015-pdf.pdf
- Indonesia: National Anti-Drug Policy and Strategy 2010-2014, http://www.uploads/2014/03/Country-Report Indonesia.pdf; Lao PDR: National Drug Control Masterplan 2010-2013, https://www.unodc.org/documents/laopdr/COLAO/NDCMP_Eng.pdf; Myanmar: 15-year Drug Eradication Plan (1999-2014)(extended to 2019)
- The Hindu (15 December 2014), Join hands for a drug-free India, http://www.thehindu.com/news/national/join-hands-for-adrugsfree-india-modi/article6691405.ece; Official website of the President of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka (2015), All must unite to create a drug-free Sri Lanka – President, http://www. president.gov.lk/news/all-must-unite-to-create-a-drug-free-srilanka-president/
- Reuter, P. (2009), 'Ten years after the United Nations General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS): assessing drug problems, policies and reform proposals.' Addiction, 104: 510-517; Global Commission on Drug Policy (2011), War on drugs, http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/themes/gcdp_v1/pdf/Global_Commission_Report_English.pdf
- 40. Fawthrop, T. (8 August 2015), 'Drug-free ASEAN by 2015?', *The Diplomat*, http://thediplomat.com/2015/08/drug-free-asean-by-2015
- 41. Borneo Post (30 October 2015), ASEAN nations fail to attain 2015 regional zero drug target, http://www.theborneopost.com/2015/10/30/asean-nations-fail-to-attain-2015-regional-ze-ro-drug-target/#ixzz3rcwS2zwx
- 42. Reuter, P. (2009), 'Ten years after the United Nations General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS): assessing drug problems, policies and reform proposals.' Addiction 104: 510-517; Global Commission on Drug Policy (2011), War on drugs, http://www.jennadeclaration.com/the-declaration/#sthash.iB-fElLdA.dpuf.
- 43. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2010), From coercion to cohesion: Treating drug-dependence through health care, not punishment, p. 5, https://www.unodc.org/docs/treatment/CoercionEbook.pdf
- 44. Association of Southeast Asian Nations (2012) ASEAN leaders' declaration on Drug-Free ASEAN 2015, http://www.aseansec.org/documents/Declaratin%20on%20Drug%20Free%20ASEAN_Endorsed%20by%20Summit_FINAL.pdf
- 45. For further details on the background to national drug policies in Asia, see the 'Policy Context' section in each country profile in: Baldwin, S. (2013), Drug policy advocacy in Asia: Challenges, opportunities and prospects (International Drug Policy Consortium), https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/IDPC-report-drug-policy-in-South-East-Asia.pdf
- 46. The data presented in this table is sourced from the AIDS data hub

- PowerPoint presentation, *HIV and AIDS Data Hub for Asia-Pacific:* Review in slides People who inject drugs, updated in November 2015, http://www.aidsdatahub.org/people-who-inject-drugs-no-vember-2015-slides
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2013), HIV in Asia and the Pacific, pp. 17-18, http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/ media_asset/2013_HIV-Asia-Pacific_en_0.pdf
- 48. See e.g. IDLO (2011), South Asia roundtable dialogue legal and policy barriers to the HIV response (Rome: IDLO)
- 49. Global Commission on HIV and the Law (2012), Risks, rights and health, http://www.hivlawcommission.org/resources/report/FinalReport-Risks,Rights&Health-EN.pdf; Global Commission on Drug Policy (2012), The war on drugs and HIV/AIDS: How the criminalization of drug use fuels the global epidemic, http://globalcommissionondrugs.org/wp-content/themes/gcdp_v1/pdf/GCDP_HIV-AIDS_2012_REFERENCE.pdf
- As of July 2015, of the population of 105,865 prisoners, 40,075 were on drug use charges and 25,559 on dealing / supply charges: Database of Directorate-General of Corrections, Ministry of Justice and Human Rights, Indonesia (2015), http://smslap.ditjenpas.go.id/public/krl/current/monthly/year/2015/month/7
- 51. Philippines Bureau of Jail Management and Penology (July 2015): 50% of the total prison population made up of 87,990 people were incarcerated for drug-related charges. 60% of those drug-related charges were for drug use or possession of drugs or paraphernalia
- 52. 32nd Asian and Pacific Conference of Correctional Administrators, October 2012, http://www.apcca.org/ uploads/APCCA
 Report 2012 Brunei.pdf; Thailand Institute of Justice, (November 2014), Women prisoners and the implementation of the Bangkok Rules in Thailand, p. 35, http://www.tijthailand.org/useruploads/files/women_prisoners and the implementation of the bangkok rules in thailand tij.pdf
- Article 192, Criminal Code of Vietnam. See: Dr Nguyễn Thị Phương Hoa (2014), Drug-related crimes under Vietnamese criminal law: Sentencing and clemency in law and practice (Melbourne: Asian Law Centre), p. 8
- 54. Harm Reduction International (2014), Global state of harm reduction 2014, http://www.ihra.net/asia
- Transnational Institute (2015), Towards a healthier legal environment: Review of Myanmar's drug laws, p. 8, http://www.burmalibrary.org/docs21/TNI-2015-02-Myanmar-towards-a-healthier-legal-environment-en-red.pdf
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013), HIV prevention, treatment and care in prisons and other closed settings: a comprehensive package of interventions: Policy Brief, https://www.unodc.org/documents/hivaids/HIV comprehensive package prison 2013 eBook.pdf
- 57. See: Transnational Institute (2015), Towards a healthier legal environment: Review of Myanmar's drug laws, p. 8, http://www.burmalibrary.org/docs21/TNI-2015-02-Myanmar-towards_a_healthier_legal_environment-en-red.pdf
- 58. Fox, E., Eastwood, N. & Rosmarin, A. (2016), A quiet revolution: Drug decriminalisation policies in practice across the globe, Version 2, http://www.release.org.uk/publications/policy-papers
- UNODC defines 'problem drug users' as 'those with drug use disorders or dependence': United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013), UNODC World Drug Report, p. 1, www.unodc.org/unodc/secured/wdr/wdr2013/World_Drug_Report_2013.pdf
- See Chapter 2.5 of: International Drug Policy Consortium (2016), IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 3rd Edition, http://idpc.net/publications/2016/03/ idpc-drug-policy-guide-3rd-edition
- Harm Reduction International (2010), What is harm reduction? A position statement from the International Harm Reduction Association, http://www.ihra.net/what-is-harm-reduction
- 62. World Health Organisation, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime & Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (2009), Technical guide for countries to set targets for universal access to HIV prevention, treatment and care for injecting drug users (Geneva: WHO), p. 6, http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/idu/idu_target_setting_guide.pdf

- 63. World Health Organisation (2014), Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations, p. 29, http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/keypopulations/en/
- 64. International HIV/AIDS Alliance (2010), Good practice guide: HIV and drug use, http://www.aidsalliance.org/publicationsdetails.aspx?id=454
- 65. See Chapter 2.4 of: International Drug Policy Consortium (2016), IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 3rd Edition, http://idpc.net/publications/2016/03/idpc-drug-policy-guide-3rd-edition
- 66. Harm Reduction International (2015), A global review of the harm reduction response to amphetamines: A 2015 update, http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/10/18/AmphetaminesReport_Oct2015_web.pdf
- 67. Naning, H., Kerr, C., Kamarulzaman, A. et al (2014), Return on investment and cost-effectiveness of harm reduction program in Malaysia (Washington, DC: World Bank Group), http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2014/07/23006930/return-investment-cost-effectiveness-harm-reduction-program-Malaysia; Mingjian, J. et al. (2012), 'Net financial benefits of averting HIV infections among people who inject drugs in Urumqi, Xinjiang, Peoples Republic of China (2005–2010)', BMC Public Health, 12: 572, http://www.biomed-central.com/1471-2458/12/572
- 68. See ANPUD website: http://anpud.org
- Asian Network of People who Use Drugs (2015), Policy brief: UNGASS 2016 Special session on the world drug problem, https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/anpud-policy-brief-ungass2016-4.pdf
- UN General Assembly (UNGA), International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (New York, 1976), article 12; UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (August 2000), General comment No. 14: The right to the highest attainable standard of health, UN Doc. E/ C.12/2000/4, http://www.refworld.org/docid/4538838d0.html
- 71. For more information, see: International Network of People Who Use Drugs (October 2015), INPUD consensus statement on drug use under prohibition Human rights, health, and the law, http://www.inpud.net/en/news/consensus-statement
- 72. For more details on human rights violations committed in the name of drug control, please refer to 'Policy principle 3' in: International Drug Policy Consortium (2015), IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 3'd edition, http://idpc.net/publications/2016/03/idpc-drug-policy-guide-3rd-edition
- 73. UN Economic and Social Council (1985), Siracusa principles on the limitation and derogation provisions in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1985/4, http://www.refworld.org/docid/4672bc122.html
- 74. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2009), Discussion paper From coercion to cohesion: Treating drug dependence through healthcare, not punishment, p. 2, http://www.unodc.org/docs/treat-ment/Coercion_Ebook.pdf
- International Drug Policy Consortium (2012) IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 2nd edition, p.11, https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/IDPC-Drug-Policy-Guide 2nd-Edition.pdf
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2014), Community based treatment and care for drug use and dependence: Information brief for Southeast Asia (Bangkok: UNODC), https://www.unodc.org/docu-ments/southeastasiaandpacific//cbtx/cbtx brief EN.pdf
- UK Consortium on AIDS and International Development & UK Network on Sexual and Reproductive Health Rights (2012), Integrating our efforts to raise the bar for women's health through: Rights, access investment, security, equity, https://www.ivoindia.org/lmages/integrating-our-efforts-to-raise-the-bar_tcm78-39310.pdf
- 78. Article 31 of Decree-Law 14,294 as amended by Law 17,016
- International Harm Reduction Association (2012), Global state of harm reduction, Chapter 3.4, http://www.ihra.net/files/2012/09/04/Chapter 3.4 drug-decriminalisation .pdf
- 80. The Australian Capital Territory, Northern Territory and South Australia have decriminalised the possession of small amounts of cannabis, which is treated as an administrative offence. See: Ritter, A. (2012), Decriminalisation or legalisation: Injecting evidence in the drug law reform debate (Sydney: National Drug and

- Alcohol Research Centre), https://ndarc.med.unsw.edu.au/blog/decriminalisation-or-legalisation-injecting-evidence-drug-law-reform-debate
- 81. See section 2.4 for more information on specific quantities that are deemed to represent 10 days' supply in Portugal
- Murkin G. (2014), Drug decriminalisation in Portugal: Setting the record straight (Transform Drug Policy Foundation), http://www.tdpf.org.uk/blog/drug-decriminalisation-portugal-setting-record-straight
- 83. Ibid
- Gonçalves, R., Lourenço A., & da Silva, S. (2014), 'A social cost perspective in the wake of the Portuguese strategy for the fight against drugs', *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 26(2): 199-209, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25265899
- Murkin G. (2014), Drug decriminalisation in Portugal: Setting the record straight (Transform Drug Policy Foundation), p. 3, https://www.tdpf.org.uk/blog/drug-decriminalisation-portugal-setting-record-straight
- Data from the Portugal Institute of Drugs and Drug Dependence, cited in: Murkin G. (2014), Drug decriminalisation in Portugal: Setting the record straight (Transform Drug Policy Foundation), p. 3, https://www.tdpf.org.uk/blog/drug-decriminalisation-portugal-setting-record-straight
- Hughes, C. & Stevens, A. (2007), The effects of decriminalization of drug use in Portugal (Oxford: Beckley Foundation Drug Policy Programme), p. 7, http://core.ac.uk/download/files/57/91904.pdf
- Hughes, C. & Stevens, A. (2010) 'What can we learn from the Portuguese decriminalization of illicit drugs?', British Journal of Criminology, 50: 999-1022, http://bjc.oxfordjournals.org/content/50/6/999.abstract
- 89. Félix, S. & Portugal, P. (2015), *Drug Decriminalization and the price of illicit drugs* (Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labor)
- 90. Law on Drug Control 2011, Article 53
- Balhara, Y. & Mathur, S. (2014), 'Bhang beyond the purview of the narcotic drugs and psychotropic substances act', *Lung India*, 31(4): 431-432
- National Consultation on decriminalization of drug use & access to treatment for vulnerable populations, 15th July 2015, Ministry of Social Justice & Empowerment India in partnership with Federation of Indian NGOs for Drug Abuse Prevention at India Habitat Centre, New Delhi (unpub. report)
- 93. Philippine Star (12 August 2015), House mulls legalizing medical marijuana, http://www.philstar.com/headlines/2015/08/12/1487124/house-mulls-legalizing-medical-marijuana; Times of India (3 May 2015), Legalize medical cannabis activists say, http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/Legalize-medical-cannabis-activists-say/articleshow/47135913.cms; FirstPost.com (2 January 2015), Bangalore oncologists want cannabis legalised to help fight cancer, http://www.firstpost.com/living/bangalore-oncologists-want-cannabis-legalised-to-help-fight-cancer-2026985.html
- 94. As marijuana possession is technically an offence in Nepal and Bangladesh, these are examples of *de facto* rather than *de jure* decriminalization. See: Huffington Post (11 March 2013), *Shivaratri festival in Nepal includes temporary lifting of marijuana ban*, http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2013/03/11/shivaratri-festival-nepal-mairijuan_n_2851875.html
- European Centre for Monitoring Drugs and Drug Addiction, Kratom (Mitragyna speciosa) drug profile, http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/drug-profiles/kratom
- 96. Raffa, R. (2014), Kratom and other mitragynines: The chemistry and pharmacology of opioids from a non-opium source (Boca Raton: CRC Press) p. 155
- Tanguay, P. & Vasconi C. (2013), 'Kratom decriminalisation in Thailand', IDPC Blog, http://idpc.net/blog/2013/09/kratom-decriminalisation-in-thailand
- Study in Barangay Kamagayan in Cebu by the Department of Health, Philippine National AIDS council, the Cebu City Local Government and Population Services International: Philippine Inquirer (28 May 2015), Senators want free syringes study halted, http://newsinfo.

- inquirer.net/694226/senators-want-free-syringes-study-halted#ix-zz3nvA7eL3j
- Support don't punish, p. 17; Rahman, F., Reaksmey, H., Thanh, P., Golichenko, O. (2014) 'Using the heart: Law enforcement and people who use drugs in Asia', HIV Australia 12(2), https://www.afao.org.au/library/hiv-australia/volume-12/vol.-12-number-2/using-the-heart-law-enforcement-and-people-who-use-drugs-in-asia#.
 VfDSbLTVnA4
- 100. Harris, G. (2011), Conviction by numbers: Threshold quantities for drug policy (Transnational Institute & International Drug Policy Consortium), https://www.countthecosts.org/sites/default/files/Threshold-quantities-for-drug-policy.pdf; European Monitoring Centre on Drugs and Drug Addiction (2003), The role of the quantity in the prosecution of drug offences, https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/att_5738_EN_Quantities.pdf
- 101. This list is not exhaustive. In some states of the USA, possession of 28 grams of marijuana is permitted (Alaska, Colorado and Washington). It is the policy position of the Government of Canada to decriminalise recreational use of marijuana
- 102. Fox, E., Eastwood, N. & Rosmarin, A. (2016), A quiet revolution: Drug decriminalisation policies in practice across the globe, Version 2, http://www.release.org.uk/publications/policy-papers
- See: European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Threshold quantities for drug offences, http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index99321EN.html
- 104. These low thresholds were set in 2012: UNAIDS Country Office Lao PDR, personal communication, October 2015.
- 105. Windle, J. (2015), Drugs and drug policy in Thailand (Washington DC: Brookings Institute), p. 7, http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Papers/2015/04/global-drug-policy/WindleThailand-final.pdf?la=en
- 106. Dr Nguyễn Thị Phương Hoa (2014), Drug-related crimes under Vietnamese criminal law: Sentencing and clemency in law and practice (Melbourne: Asian Law Centre), p. 10, http://law.unimelb.edu.au/data/assets/pdf-file/0011/1547093/ALC-CILISPolicyPaper-Hoa-finalwobleed3.pdf
- Li, E. (2014), 'The new drug detoxification system in China: A misused tool for drug rehabilitation', *U of Pennsylvania Law Review*, 9: 168-212, http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2015/07/20/lack-of-due-process-mars-chinas-war-on-drugs/
- 108. Ibid, p. 212
- See: Windle, J., (2015), A slow march from social evil to harm reduction: Drugs and drug policy in Vietnam, (Washington DC, Brookings Institute); Kamarulzaman, A. & McBrayer, J. (2015), 'Compulsory drug detention centres in South and Southeast Asia', International Journal of Drug Policy, 26, S33-37
- 110. Article 199 of the Penal Code
- 111. Under the Ordinance on Administrative Violations of 2002, drug use is considered an administrative violation under article 26, which contains measures for the rehabilitation and detention of people who use drugs, including a mandatory period of between one and two years detention for people 'addicted to drugs'. Article 23 provides for measures to rehabilitate people in the community. No. 44/2002/ PL-UBTVQH10 of July 2, 2002. Compulsory detention was first introduced by the Ordinance on Administrative Violations of 1995
- 112. Amon, J., Pearshouse R., Cohen, J. & Schleifer, R. (2014), 'Compulsory drug detention in East and Southeast Asia: Evolving government, UN and donor responses' *International Journal of Drug Policy* **25**: 13-20
- 113. Vietnam's Law on HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control and its Implementing Decree No. 108/2007 provide for harm reduction programmes including NSP, the protection of peer outreach workers from arrest, and the provision of OST. In 2012, the government issued the Decree Regulating Substitution Treatment of Opioid Addiction No: 96/2012/ND-CP
- Kamarulzaman, A. & McBrayer, J. (2015), 'Compulsory drug detention centres in South and Southeast Asia', *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 26, S33-37
- 115. Decision 2596/QD-TTg

- 116. UNAIDS Vietnam Country Office (2012), Alternative action on compulsory detention: Innovative responses in Asia, http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/featurestories/2012/october/20121005detentioncenters
- Oanh, K.T.H. (2014), 'No one left behind. Effective harm reduction and drug policy', Presentation at the International AIDS Conference, http://www.scdi.org.vn/others/no-one-left-behind-dr-khuat-thi-hai-oanhs-presentation-at-the-international-aids-conference-2014.html
- 118. Ibid, p. 2
- 119. Elliott, R., Symington, A., Lines, R. & Schleifer, R. (2011), *Treatment or torture? Applying international human rights standards to drug detention centres* (New York: Open Society Foundations), p. 3, https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/treatment-or-torture-20110624.pdf
- 120. Kamarulzaman, A. & McBrayer, J. (2015), 'Compulsory drug detention centres in South and Southeast Asia', International Journal of Drug Policy, 26, S33-37; Amon, J., Pearshouse R., Cohen, J. & Schleifer, R. (2014), 'Compulsory drug detention in East and Southeast Asia: Evolving government, UN and donor responses' International Journal of Drug Policy 25: 13-20; Fu, J., Bazazi, A., Altice, F., et al. (2012), 'Absence of antiretroviral therapy and other risk factors for morbidity and mortality in Malaysian compulsory drug detention and rehabilitation centers', PLoS One, 7(9)
- 121. Human Rights Watch (2010), 'Skin on the cable': The illegal arrest, arbitrary detention and torture of people who use drugs in Cambodia (New York: Human Rights Watch), https://www.hrw.org/reports/2010/01/25/skin-cable; Human Rights Watch (2011), The rehab archipelago: Forced labor and other abuses in drug detention centers in southern Vietnam (New York: Human Rights Watch), https://www.hrw.org/reports/2011/09/07/rehab-archipelago; Human Rights Watch (2011), Somsanga's secrets: Arbitrary detention, physical abuse and suicide inside a Lao drug detention center (New York: Human Rights Watch), https://www.hrw.org/reports/2011/10/11/somsanga-s-secrets-0
- 122. See: Kamarulzaman, A. & McBrayer, J. (2015), 'Compulsory drug detention centres in South and Southeast Asia', International Journal of Drug Policy, 26, S33-37; World Health Organisation (2009), Assessment of compulsory treatment of people who use drugs in Cambodia, China, Malaysia and Viet Nam: An application of selected human rights principles (Philippines: WHO Western Pacific Regional Office), http://www.wpro.who.int/publications/docs/FINALforWeb Mar17 Compulsory Treatment.pdf; Reid, G. et al. (2007), 'Malaysia and Harm Reduction: The challenges and responses', International Journal of Drug Policy, 18: 136-140
- 123. United Nations (2012), Joint statement: Compulsory drug detention and rehabilitation centres (New York: UN); See also: Human Rights Council (1 February 2013), Report of the Special Rapporteur on torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, Juan E. Méndez, A/HRC/22/53. the Special Rapporteur called upon all States to close compulsory drug detention and rehabilitation centres without delay and implement voluntary, evidence- and rights-based health and social services in the community
- 124. IDPC (2014), 'Global Fund calls for the end of compulsory treatment', http://idpc.net/alerts/2014/11/global-fund-calls-for-the-end-of-compulsory-treatment
- 125. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2009), Discussion paper From coercion to cohesion: Treating drug dependence through health-care, not punishment, http://www.unodc.org/docs/ treatment/Coercion Ebook.pdf
- 126. Tanguay, P. et al (2015), Community-based drug treatment models for people who use drugs: Six experiences on creating alternatives to compulsory detention centres in Asia (London: Harm Reduction International), http://www.ihra.net/contents/1648
- 127. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2012), Report of the Second Regional Consultation on Compulsory Centres for Drug Users in Asia and the Pacific 1-3 October 2012, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, https://www.unodc. org/documents/southeastasiaandpacific/2012/10/ccdu/CCDU2 Meeting Report Final 2012-10-11.pdf
- 128. Recommendations: Third consultation on compulsory centers for peoplewhousedrugs (CCDUs), 21-23 September 2015, Manila, Philippines, <a href="https://unaidsapnew.files.wordpress.com/2015/10/3rd-region-third-re

al-consultation-on-ccdus-recommendations-_final3.pdf

- 129. Tanguay, P., Kamarulzaman, A., Aramrattana, A., et al (2015), 'Facilitating a transition from compulsory detention of people who use drugs towards voluntary community-based drug dependence treatment and support services in Asia', Harm Reduction Journal, 12:31, http://harmreductionjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12954-015-0071-0; also see: Recommendations: Third consultation on compulsory centers for people who use drugs (CCDUs), 21-23 September 2015, Manila, Philippines, https://unaidsapnew.files.wordpress.com/2015/10/3rd-regional-consultation-on-ccdus-recommendations- final3.pdf
- 130. Ibid; United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2010), From coercion to cohesion: Treating drug dependence through healthcare, not punishment, p. 7, http://www.unodc.org/documents/hiv-aids/publications/UNODC_2010_Discussion_Paper_-En.pdf
- 131. See Chapter 2.4 in: International Drug Policy Consortium (2016), IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 3rd Edition, http://idpc.net/publications/2016/03/idpc-drug-policy-guide-3rd-edition
- 132. For examples of good practice community-based treatment in Asia, see: Tanguay P. et al (2015), Community-based drug treatment models for people who use drugs: Six experiences on creating alternatives to compulsory detention centres in Asia (London: Harm Reduction International), http://www.ihra.net/contents/1648
- 133. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2014), Guidance for community-based treatment and care services for drug users in Southeast Asia (Bangkok: UNODC), https://www.unodc.org/documents/southeastasiaandpacific/cbtx/cbtx guidance EN.pdf
- 134. See: Rahman, F. (2011), Swiss drug policy (Kuala Lumpur: Malaysian AIDS Council), http://www.mac.org.my/v3/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/Swiss Drug Policy Report.pdf
- 135. Bradley S. (2013), Mixed feelings over new Swiss cannabis law, http://www.swissinfo.ch/eng/decriminalisation_mixed-feelings-over-new-swiss-cannabis-law/36977488; also see: Bonnie, R. (2011), Europe and decriminalization: A comparative view, https://www.drugtext.org/Marijuana-Use-and-Criminal-Sanctions/chapter-6-europe-and-decriminalization-a-comparative-view.html
- 136. Waal H., Clausen T., Gjersing L. & Gosso M. (2014), 'Open drug scenes: Responses of five European cities', *BMC Public Health*, **14**: 853
- Fischer, B., Oviedo-Joekes, E., Blanken, P. et al. (2007) 'Heroinassisted treatment (HAT) a decade later: A brief update on science and politics', J Urban Health, 84(4): 552–562, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2219559
- 138. Csete, J., (2010), From the Mountaintops: What the world can learn from drug policy change in Switzerland (New York: Open Society Foundations), https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/from-the-mountaintops-english-20110524_0.pdf
- 139. UN General Assembly (1990), United Nations standard minimum rules for non-custodial measures (The Tokyo Rules), A/RES/45/110, http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/45/a45r110.htm
- 140. Article 3(4)(d), UN Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances of 1988
- 141. SAARC Convention on Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1990, http://narcoticsindia.nic.in/upload/download/document-iddbd90a665ea6f292f36ebdb3d442826d.pdf
- 142. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013), Handbook on strategies to reduce overcrowding in prisons, Criminal Justice Handbook Series, https://www.unodc.org/documents/justice-and-prison-reform/Overcrowding_in_prisons_Ebook.pdf; Commission on Narcotic Drugs (2015), Background documentation for the interactive discussions on high-level segments to the held during the special session of the General Assembly on the world drug problem in 2016. E/CN.7/2015/CRP.4, Fifty-eighth session, Vienna, 9-17 March 2015, https://www.unodc.org/documents/commissions/CND/CND_Sessions/CND_58/ECN72015 CRP4e V1501456.pdf
- 143. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime & World Health Organisation (2009), Principles of Drug Dependence Treatment, Discussion paper, https://www.unodc.org/documents/drugtreatment/UNODC-WHO-Principles-of-Drug-Dependence-Treatment-March08.pdf (see especially Principle 6)
- 144. In relation to women, see: Harm Reduction International (2012), *The global state of harm reduction 2012*, chapter 3.1, https://www.ihra.net/

- files/2012/09/04/Chapter 3.1 women .pdf; In relation to children, see: Harm Reduction International (HRI), Youth Rise, International HIV/AIDS Alliance & Save the Children (2015), Step-by step preparing for work with children and young people who inject drugs, http://www.ihra.net/files/2015/11/06/WEB2_Step_by_step_tool1.pdf
- 145. See especially rules 57, 58, 60 and 62, *United Nations rules for the treatment of women prisoners and non-custodial measures for women offenders*, UN General Assembly Doc A/C.3/65/L.5, http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/BangkokRules.pdf
- 146. Rahman F. 'Alternatives to criminal justice'. In: Rahman, F., Crofts, N., eds. (2013), *Drug policy reform in East and South East Asia* (Lanham: Lexington Books), p. 248
- 147. Single, E., Christie, P. & Ali, R. (2000), 'The impact of cannabis decriminalisation in Australia and the United States', *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 21(2): 157-186, http://www.parl.gc.ca/content/sen/committee/371/ille/presentation/single-e.htm
- 148. Payne J., Kwiatkowski M., Wundersitz J. (2008), *Police drug diversion:* A study of criminal offending outcomes (Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology), p. 5
- 149. Ibid, p. 4.; Wundersitz J. (2007), Criminal justice responses to drug and drug-related offending: Are they working? (Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology), p. 9, http://aic.gov.au/media_library/publications/tbp/tbp025/tbp025.pdf
- 150. Collins, S., Lonczak, H., & Clifasefi S. (2015), LEAD Program Evaluation: Recidivism Report (Seattle: University of Washington & Harborview Medical Centre), http://static1.1.sqspcdn.com/static/f/1185392/26121870/1428513375150/LEAD_EVALUATION_4-7-15.pdf?token=jH6mFrua5jVFsuWy2sCfLgN%2FCcY%3D; Seattle Police Department (8 April 2015), 'Study: Innovative Seattle/King County Diversion Program Shows Success', SPD Blotter, http://spdblotter.seattle.gov/2015/04/08/study-innovative-seattleking-county-diversion-program-shows-success
- 151. Ibid
- 152. International Drug Policy Consortium (2012), IDPC Drug Policy Guide (2nd ed.), https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/lDPC-Drug-Policy-Guide_2nd-Edition.pdf
- 153. HIV/AIDS Asia Regional Program (n.d), Guidelines for addressing police concerns about harm reduction, http://ni1.unimelb.edu.au/Leahrn/HAARP/HAARP Tool 2 Booklet Guidelines Police Concerns About HR.doc
- 154. Rahman, F., Reaksmey, H., Thanh, P. & Golichenko, O. (2014), 'Using the heart: Law enforcement and people who use drugs in Asia', HIV Australia, 12(2), https://www.afao.org.au/library/hiv-australia/volume-12/vol.-12-number-2/using-the-heart-law-enforcement-and-people-who-use-drugs-in-asia#.VfDSbLTVnA4
- 155. Tanguay, P., Stoicescu, C. & Cook, C. (2015), Community-based drug treatment models for people who use drugs: Six experiences on creating alternatives to compulsory detention centres in Asia (London: Harm Reduction International), pp. 31-35
- 156. Center for Supporting Community Development Initiatives (2015), Expanding voluntary drug treatment services in Bac Giang, http://www.scdi.org.vn/communication-advocacy/expanding-voluntary-drug-treatment-services-in-bac-giang.html
- Ngammee, V. & Tanguay, P. (2015), CHAMPION-IDU Innovations, best practices and lessons learned - Implementation of the national response to HIV among people who inject drugs in Thailand 2009-2014, http://www.psi.org/publication/champion-idu-innovations-bestpractices-and-lessons-learned
- 158. Rule 5.1. UN General Assembly (1990), United Nations standard minimum rules for non-custodial measures (The Tokyo Rules), A/RES/45/110, http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/45/a45r110.htm
- 159. Ibid
- 160. International Narcotics Control Board (2007), Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 2007, p. 7
- 161. Law on Drug Control 2011, Article 105
- 162. Compulsory treatment for people who use drugs is also used in many countries globally, including the UK, the USA, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Italy, Sweden, Germany, Canada, Spain and Australia. In the USA, the focus of mandatory treatment is on offenders

- charged with any drug use offence. In Australia, the Netherlands and the UK, the focus is on persistent drug-using offenders who may have committed non-drug-related offences
- 163. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime & World Health Organisation (2008), Principles of drug dependence treatment, https://www.unodc.org/documents/drug-treatment/UNODC-WHO-Principles-of-Drug-Dependence-Treatment-March08.pdf
- 164. Tanguay, P., Stoicescu, C. & Cook, C. (2015), Community-based drug treatment models for people who use drugs: Six experiences on creating alternatives to compulsory detention centres in Asia (London: Harm Reduction International), pp. 41-46
- 165. Ibid, pp. 47-51; Ghani, M. (2015), 'An exploratory qualitative assessment of self-reported treatment outcomes and satisfaction among patients accessing an innovative voluntary drug treatment centre in Malaysia', *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 26(2): 175-182; Kamarulzaman, A. & McBrayer, J. (2015), 'Compulsory drug detention centres in South and Southeast Asia', *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 26, S33-37
- 166. Dangerous Drugs Act, section 15
- 167. Malaysian courts can divert drug offenders through orders made under the *Drug Dependants (Treatment and Rehabilitation) Act (1983)*
- 168. Malaysian AIDS Council (2015), Drug harms in Malaysia: A technical brief, http://www.mac.org.my/v3/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/SDP Technical Brief on Drug Harms in Malaysia 20150625.pdf
- 169. Tandon, T. (2015), Drug policy in India, IDPC Briefing Paper, (London: International Drug Policy Consortium), https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/IDPC-briefing-paper_Drug-policy-in-India.pdf; Indian Express News Service (13 August 2013), Court grants immunity to four accused, https://archive.indianexpress.com/news/juhu-rave-bust-court-grants-immunity-to-four-accused/1154542; Times of India (24 June 2012), Law compassionate but cops harsh to drug users, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/mumbai/Law-compassionate-but-cops-harsh-to-drug-users/articleshow/14367066.cms
- 170. Section 39, Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances Act 1985 (India)
- 171. Section 64A, Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances Act 1985 (India)
- 172. Tandon, T. (2015), *Drug policy in India*, IDPC Briefing Paper, (London: International Drug Policy Consortium), https://dl.dropboxusercontent.com/u/64663568/library/IDPC-briefing-paper_Drug-policy-in-India.pdf
- 173. Burris, S. & Chiu, J. (2011), Punitive drug laws and the risk environment for injecting drug users: Understanding the connections, Working paper prepared for the Third Meeting of the Technical Advisory Group of the Global Commission on HIV and the Law, 7-9 July 2011, https://www.hivlawcommission.org/index.php/working-papers/punitive-drug-law-and-the-risk-environment-for-injecting-drug-users-understanding-the-connections?tmpl=component
- 174. Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances and Substance Abuse Act 2005 (Bhutan), Section 43
- 175. Community-based services are to be piloted in three areas in Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao: Dangerous Drugs Board (21 September 2015), DDB and DOH improve access to drug rehabilitation services, http://www.ddb.gov.ph
- 176. For more information and recommendations on drug courts, see: Guzman, D. (2012), Drug courts: Scope and challenges of an alternative to incarceration (London: International Drug Policy Consortium), http://idpc.net/publications/2012/07/idpc-briefing-paper-drug-courts
- 177. Countries with drug courts include Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Ireland, New Zealand, Norway, the USA, the UK, Barbados, Bermuda, Chile, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Jamaica, Mexico, Panama, Suriname, and Trinidad and Tobago
- 178. Government of Maldives (2011), *Drugs Act 2011*, http://www.drugcourt.gov.mv/documents/laws/17-2011-Drug%20Act-Translation.pdf; Minivan News (1 May 2012), *Drug court ushering in new era in Maldives drug battle*, http://minivannewsarchive.com/politics/drug-court-ushering-new-era-in-maldives-drug-battle-36537#sthash.bKqu1vk7.dpbs

- 179. PEPFAR (2014), Vietnam 2014 country operational plan executive summary, http://www.pepfar.gov/countries/cop/240132.htm
- 180. Tiger, R. (2012), Judging addicts: Drug courts and coercion in the justice system (New York: NYU Press)
- 181. Wundersitz J. (2007), Criminal justice responses to drug and drugrelated offending: Are they working? (Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology), pp. 22-27, http://aic.gov.au/media_library/ publications/tbp/tbp025/tbp025.pdf
- 182. Csete, J. & Tomasini-Joshi, D. (2015), Drug courts: Equivocal evidence on a popular intervention (New York: Open Society Foundations), https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/reports/drug-courts-equivocal-evidence-popular-intervention; Guzman, D. (2012), Drug courts: Scope and challenges of an alternative to incarceration (London: International Drug Policy Consortium), p. 2, http://idpc.net/publications/2012/07/idpc-briefing-paper-drug-courts; Drug Policy Alliance (2014), Moving away from drug courts: Toward a health-centered approach to drug use (New York: Drug Policy Alliance), http://www.drugpolicy.org/resource/moving-away-drug-courts-toward-health-centered-approach-drug-use
- 183. Global Commission on Drug Policy (2014), *Taking control:*Pathways to drug policies that work, p. 22, http://www.globalcommissionondrugs.org/reports
- Guzman, D. (2012), Drug courts: Scope and challenges of an alternative to incarceration (London: International Drug Policy Consortium), p. 2, http://idpc.net/publications/2012/07/idpc-briefing-paper-drug-courts
- Csete, J. & Tomasini-Joshi, D. (2015), Drug courts: Equivocal evidence on a popular intervention (New York: Open Society Foundations), p. 9, https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/reports/drug-courtsequivocal-evidence-popular-intervention
- 186. Ibid
- 187. Minivan News (1 May 2013), Drug court sending addicts to jail after detox centres reach capacity, http://minivannewsarchive.com/politics/drug-court-sending-addicts-to-jail-after-detox-centres-reach-capacity-57295#sthash.Xhx2MAWp.dpbs
- 188. See: 13 Key principles for court-directed treatment and rehabilitation programmes, http://www.nadcp.org/about-us/13-key-principles-drug-treatment-court, Drug Policy Alliance (2014), Moving away from drug courts: Toward a health-centered approach to drug use (New York: Drug Policy Alliance), https://www.drugpolicy.org/resource/moving-away-drug-courts-toward-health-centered-approach-drug-use; see also: Drug Policy Alliance (2011), Drug courts are not the answer: Toward a health-centered approach to drug use, https://www.drugpolicy.org/docUploads/Drug_Courts_Are
 Not the Answer Final2.pdf
- See Chapter 3.4 in: International Drug Policy Consortium (2016), IDPC Drug Policy Guide, 3rd Edition, http://idpc.net/publications/2016/03/ idpc-drug-policy-guide-3rd-edition
- See the relevant UN standards and norms on the role of lawyers and access to legal aid: UN General Assembly Resolution 67/187 (2012), United Nations principles and guidelines on access to legal aid in criminal justice systems, http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/67/187
- 191. UNODC defines 'problem drug users' as 'those with drug use disorders or dependence': United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2013) UNODC World Drug Report, p.1, www.unodc.org/ unodc/secured/wdr/wdr2013/ World_Drug_Report_2013.pdf
- 192. The *Law on Drugs* of 2011 permits possession of equipment used for consumption of drugs in the context of provision of harm reduction services
- 193. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2012), Innovative community based drug treatment pilot makes inroads in Cambodia, https://www.unodc.org/southeastasiaandpacific/en/2012/02/cbtx-cambodia/story.html; Council of the European Union (2014), Note from Japanese Regional Chair of the Dublin Group: Regional report on South East Asia and China, p. 5, http://register.consilium.europa.eu/doc/srv?l=EN&f=ST%208990%202014%20INIT
- 194. Human Rights Watch (2010), 'Skin on the cable': The illegal arrest, arbitrary detention and torture of people who use drugs in Cambodia (New York: Human Rights Watch), http://www.hrw.org/reports/2010/01/25/skin-cable

- 195. Chheng, K., Leang, S., Thomson N., Moore T. & Crofts N. (2012), 'Harm reduction in Cambodia: A disconnect between policy and practice', *Harm Reduction Journal*, **9**: 30
- 196. GRM International and Burnet Institute (2014), Keeping drug users out of jail? Drug diversion policy in Indonesia, https://www.burnet.edu.au/system/asset/file/1435/keepingg_2.pdf
- 197. Documented in the video: PKNI (2015), *Dying a slow death: Inside Indonesia's drug war*, http://idpc.net/alerts/2015/11/dying-a-slow-death-inside-indonesia-s-drug-war
- 198. National AIDS Commission (2015), Community based drug dependence treatment in Indonesia: Documentation of best practice
- 199. See the LBH Masyarakat website for further information about their work: http://lbhmasyarakat.org/en/
- Narcotic Rehabilitation Act Committee, see: Windle, J. (2015), *Drugs and drug policy in Thailand* (Washington DC: Brookings Institute), p. 7, http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Papers/2015/04/global-drug-policy/WindleThailand-final.pdf?la=en
- McLellan A., Luborsky L., Woody G. & O'Brien C. (1980), 'An improved diagnostic evaluation instrument for substance abuse patients. The Addiction Severity Index', *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disorders*, 168 (1): 26-33
- See: Thomson, N. (2010), Detention as treatment: Detention of methamphetamine users in Cambodia, Laos, and Thailand (Open Society Institute), http://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/center-for-public-health-and-human-rights/ pdf/Thomson OSI DetentionAsTreatment 2010.pdf
- 203. Submission of the International Harm Reduction Association, Asian Harm Reduction Network, the Open Society Institute Public Health Program and Thai AIDS Treatment Action Group to the UN Universal Periodic Review (2011),Twelfth session of the UPR Working Group of the Human Rights Council, Human rights violations associated with Thailand's anti-drug laws, http://lib.ohchr.org/HRBodies/UPR/Documents/session12/TH/JS1-JointSubmission1-eng.pdf
- 204. MacDonald, V. & Nacapew, S. (2013), *Drug control and harm reduction in Thailand* (London: International Drug Policy Consortium)
- 205. United Nations (2012), Joint statement on compulsory drug detention and rehabilitation centres, https://www.unodc.org/documents/southeastasiaandpacific//2012/03/drug-detention-centre/JC2310_Joint_Statement6March12FINAL_En.pdf
- 206. McCoy A. (2000), 'From free trade to prohibition: A critical history of the modern Asian opium trade', Fordham Urban LJ, 28(1): 307-349, http://ir.lawnet.fordham.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1804&context=ulj; Parliament of Canada (2001), The history and development of the leading international drug control conventions (Ottawa:

- Parliament of Canada), http://www.parl.gc.ca/content/sen/committee/371/ille/library/history-e.htm; Karch, S. & Drummer, O. (2015), Karch's pathology of drug abuse (Boca Raton: CRC Press), p. 16
- 207. See: Transnational Institute (2015), *The UN drug control conventions:*A primer, https://www.tni.org/en/publication/the-un-drug-control-conventions#6
- 208. Commentary on the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988, p. 82, para. 3.94
- 209. The Conventions do not require that penalties be imposed for drug use. See Commentary on the United Nations Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988, p. 82, para. 3.94
- 210. Article 3(2)
- International Narcotics Control Board (2001), Report of the International Narcotics Control Board for 2001 (E/INCB/2001/1), para.
- 212. Commentary on the Convention against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988, p. 72, paras. 3.65 and 3.66
- 213. Transnational Institute (2015), *The UN drug control conventions: A primer*, https://www.tni.org/en/publication/the-un-drug-control-conventions#6
- 214. See: Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Anand Grover (19 October 2012), Submission to the Committee Against Torture regarding drug control laws https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Health/drugPolicyLaw.pdf
- 215. UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (August 2000), General comment No. 14: The right to the highest attainable standard of health, UN Doc. E/ C.12/2000/4, http://www.refworld.org/docid/4538838d0.html
- 216. United Nations, Economic and Social Council (1985), Siracusa Principles on the Limitation and Derogation Provisions in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1985/4. Annex
- World Health Organisation (2014), Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations, http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/keypopulations/en/
- 218. Para 14
- 219. UN Commission on Narcotic Drugs Resolution 58/5 (2015), Supporting the collaboration of public health and justice authorities in pursuing alternative measures to conviction or punishment for appropriate drug-related offences of a minor nature, https://www.unodc. org/documents/commissions/CND/CND Sessions/CND 58/2015 Resolutions/Resolution 58 5.pdf



In this report, the International Drug Policy Consortium (IDPC) offers recommendations based on evidence and examples of good practice to inform a shift in policy responses to drug use in Asia away from criminalisation and punishment, and towards public health and harm reduction.

IDPC is a global network of NGOs that promotes objective and open debate on the effectiveness, direction and content of drug policies at national and international level, and supports

© International Drug Policy Consortium Publication 2016

Tel: +44 (0) 20 7324 2974
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7324 2977
Email: contact@idpc.net
Website: www.idpc.net

evidence-based policies that are effective in reducing drug -related harms. IDPC members have a wide range of experience and expertise in the analysis of drug problems and policies, and contribute to national and international policy debates. IDPC offers specialist advice through the dissemination of written materials, presentations at conferences, meetings with key policy makers and study tours. IDPC also provides capacity building and advocacy training for civil society organisations.